Elkhart Community Schools

ceENtaL HIGH EC”GEL
SOCIAL Tug%'s DEP
COPY #

BLICHRT
Y|
S

SLIHARY COLMTYTTT SEHOOLS

AR, TUD LA




Elkhart Community Schools

¥ILIL

ONE HUNDRED GRADUATING CLASSES:
A HISTORY OF ELKHART HIGH SCHOOL

by John A, Stinespring
CHAPTER ONE: ELKHART HIGH SCHOOL BUILDINGS

The oocasian Tor 'n'ritin-g a history of a high school needs some
explanation. The wea ocourred to =veral school officials, but especially
to the Assistant Superintendent for Secondary Education, Or. Warren
Breniman, at a recent Commencement cerermony. As is the custom, the
program stated that the particular exercise in guestion was the “Ninety-
sixth Annual Graduation at Elkhart High School,” and it seemed ap-
propriate to Dr. Breniman that the 100th graduation in 1972 should
receive some dpecial recognition. The évent became even more significant
whan by sheer coincidence it developed that the 100th annual graduation
would also be the last graduation at Elkhart High School because the
community had decided thar there should be two high schools — Elkhart
Memorial and Elkhart Central = replacing the one, thus sliminating the
simple and hallowed name “Elkhart High School™ foreser. This apparent
coincidence was abetted by the construction schedule which missed the
ariginally projected 18971 opening date for Elkbart Memaorial High Schoal
and regquired a postponement until September 1972, The result was that
in Jung 1572 the 100th and final graduation from Elkhart High School
ook place.

Education began in Elkchart almost as soon a5 the community was
settled. In 1831, Pierre Moran, a Potawatomi chief, sold some land to
Dr. Havilah Beardsley for $1500, and the transaction was approved in
writing by President Andrew Jackson in accordance with the provisions
of a treaty signed with the Otawas, Chippewss snd Potawatomis in
Chicago in 1827. The need for education was guickly recognized as
indicated by the presence in Elchart County of its first teacher in 18332,
@ Mr. Wester. Apparently education wes not quite as sophisticated in
those days as we like to think it is today because Mr, Wester was describec
' the fallowing manner by Henry Bartholomes:

His foundational learning, the litile he had, was
gathered up in Tennesses, He wore butternut
colored jeans, not then 5o well kKnown & of |ater
wears as indicating the unwashed southern Demo
crat. Wester was not called as am instructor by




any réason prompied by fitness for the work, but
a5 a kind of charity toward him and also inasmuch
a5 his employment in that capacity was a sseming
utilization of one who was unable to perfarm any
other work that could be found in the neighbor-
hood, Besides, it took away no labaring man from
the farming interests of the community. He had
no knowledge of any study higher than reading
with & slight scqguaintance with the elementary
rules of arithrmetic,

Fig. 1 Downtown Facilities Used by Elkhart High School

P
/% | | High School (Samusl Stroag) 1892-1911

The honor of being the first teacher in the city of Elkhart is a cont
bevween a Maria Ellis, whose family came to Elkhart in 1831 and w
taught in & private residence st the cormer of Second and Jei
Streets, and a Nehemiah Broderick, wha taught in a log schoolhouse n
the 5t. Joseph River. The sources do agree that the first schoolhouse i
Elkhart was 4 “Log Cabin School” built in 1836 on East Washing
Street near the banks of the Elkhart River.
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Subsequent school buildings soon followed — a building on
eail side of Second Street between Jackson snd Washington Streets, bu
im 1838 and burned down in 1844; a four-story frame building built
the comer of High and Second Streets in 1841, which burned down
1867 (no stories have survived to explain the cause of these
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building fires so the reader can use his ewn imagination) and a three-sto P | 1923-1972
building I::.|Ih: in 1844 at Main and Jefferson Streets, called "Tamma ! Trinity Methodist Churck
Hall,” which was used for a variety of public gatherings, lectures, a 19al-19F0

dances, a5 well a5 & school. Later it became a crowded tenement hou
known a5 “The Bea-hive ™
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Vecational Annex
1928=-1972

The Sscond and High Street site is of special interest to us becau
this is the location at which much of Elkhart High School history
place. Apparently the lot at Second and High was used for school pur
afver 1B40, but it was not officially purchased until 1851, Although ¢
town of Elkhart was not incorporated until 1858, perhaps practices
not always done according to exact procedure even then. In any case.
1851, certainly, the south side of High Street and the west side of
Street were destined for a long and distinguished history of providi
secondary education to the youth of Elkhart.
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(iid Central: 1868-1884

When the four-story frame building on Second and High burned to
the ground in 1867, it was decided to build a brick building that would
contain all the grades and all the students in Elkhart. Thus, a four shory
wrick building costing 545,000 was built which opened September 5§
1868 containing all grades. It was also decided at the same time to begin
offering a high school program. Therefore, we can conclude that Elkhart
High School began in the fall of 1868, This building, now usually referred
to by local historians as “Old Central,” was regarded as baeing a “building
worthy of the name and commensurate with the needs of the enterprising
little town.” Indeed, the town of Elkhart had experienced rapid growth
The first census in 1360 listed the population as 14389 and the next
census in 1870 found 3265 persons in the Community.

Oid Central served the entire school needs of the community with
the high school located on the fourth floor wntil 1873, when it was
necewsary 1o construct another building for alementary students in the
Fourth Ward. The entire 1868 faculty of Old Certral (and of the entire
school system!) consisted of seven teachers inchuding Miss Nellie Smith,
who acted a5 principal. The other teachers were Valois Butler, Miss
Cstrander, Miss Mary Hawley iwho taught there for 32 vears), Mrs, & M.
Clark, Miss M. A. Bonnell who taught there for 18 vears), and a Miss Rainy.

In those early days of Elkhart High School, everything seems 1o us
to be on & small scale. Compare, for example, the %45 000 spent on the
Ok Contral Building in 1868 with the $13,050,000 ssent on comstructing
Elkhart Memarial High School in 1972, The official report by the super-
intendant in the June 1, 1871 local nevwspaper, the Elkhart Reviews,
declared that there was an average daily attendance at Elkfart High School
of 189 swdents at the end of the year. For the entire school year of
September & 1870 through June 23, 1871, the average atendance was
25 with 42 students encolled at the high schoal, 20 gentlernen and 22
ladies.” The total cost per pupil was reported by the superintendent as
S20.18 for the year compared with the 1971.72 per pupil expenditure
of about 5940. The entire school budget for 1871-72 was 5812619
with 54,757 43 going for teachers’ salaries.

_ The first class to graduste from Elkhart High School reached this
Mistoric landmark about June 13, 1873. There were five female gradustes,
three of whom were the Simonton sisters. The event did not make
*nsational headlines in the paper like, “ELKHART HIGH SCHOOL
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PRODUCES FIRST GRADUATES! In fact, the only mentian in the
papers seems to have been a laconic reference in Suparintendent J, K,
Waltz's regular réport on the schools that said, “The very large nurmber
that attended the commencement exercise of the High School shows that
the people feel an interest in their public schools.” One can only regret
that people often fail to recognize great landmark evenits oocurring wihen
they themBalves Bre PArtcipants or witnesses.

It 1 not clear whether the graduation exercizes were held in the
Oid Central Building or on the sscond flear of the Broderick Opers
Housa, 13537 South Main Street. Howeever, graduation at that time
amounted to morg than just enduring the sweltering heat in capa and
gowns. Each graduate had to perform in some way to demonstrate his
prowess % an educeted persan, According o reports, the Simonbon
sisters and their two fTellow graduates did very well: “Their essays and
arations were excellent amnd well delivered ™

In 1874, the sscond class consisting of one boy graduated from
Elkhart High School, By 1878 the number of graduates had increased 1o
twetee — five boys and seven girls. Reports do show that this class hald
its graduation exercises in the Broderick Opera House and that each
graduate delivered & paper which he had written. Furthermore, the papers
ware interspersed with musical sslections performed by members of the
chass, ng goubi 1o the relief of some of the people in attendance, The
reports of the event cite that these exercises were well-attended by the
townipeople as well as the families of the graduates.

By 1881, the city of Elkhart had reached a population af 7000 and
had a grovwing appreciation of the products of its educational system. An
1881 History of Elkhart County waxed eloguent about the school system
that had 1523 students and 26 teachers:

Thowsgh viciousness can neser be wholly eradicated,
there is found in education a Benignant influence
which softens the evil part of nature, and leads it
upreard in just such 8 manner as the botanist traing
some inclining plant in 8 course where it would
prove both ornamental and useful. The school will
banish ignorance, a3 we understand it It will
ameliorate the condition of man by leading him
into & knowledge of true liberty, 1o an exercise
of the mental faculties, and abowe all to & recog.
nition of the uses for which God intended Rim,




Today, one hardly expects even a teachers' salary committes
expostulate such an exaggerated claim for education It is clear, howeye
that Elkhart did take pride in its educational establishment, There we
signs of progress everywhare. In 1875, Elkhart became a city and h
ity first elections. In 1883, the Electric Light Company was organizeg

stores, to a modern city, The only gig
of modernity in 1880 was the gas works installed in 1871, Bur
wias now changing!

The Annex: 1884-1911

Maturally, a city showing such growth would Fequire gxpansion
the sehool system. In 1884, the school board erected an eight-room hig
school building on High Strest adjoining the Ok Cantral building on 1
wast. The top floor of Oid Central including the high schoal rooem Wi
abandaned. The Anngs building included the high schogl and recitatio
rooms on the first floor and abso housed the upper grammar grades on i
second floor. In sddition, there was a connection built between Oid
Central and the Annex which housed the library, a museum and
superintendent’s affice, Furthermare, a sleam-heating apparatus tha
wiould haat both Buildings was installed. AN this plus furniture cost
merg 325000, Thus, 1884 was & big year for Elkhart, Nog only did the
build the Annex for Elkhart High School, and the first SEWET e ioneg
before, but also the Elkhart Water Company built 3 Pumping station b
replace the cisterns and walls on the streets, and 1o crown their achi
ments, the Bucklen Opera House was CONStructad.

The Bucklen Opera House, named after Herbert E Bucklan
raplaced the Broderick Dpera House as the center of culiural activity fi
the community. Construction was begun in 1883, but the bullding wa
not opened until September 29, 1884, In & sense, this structure which is
still standing on the northwest corner of Harrison and Main Streets, can
be considered as one of the facilities of Elkhart High Schogl. Graduation
and other high school performances such a the senior class play weng
produced &1 the Bucklen Opera House, and |t
the Elkhart High School auditorium (an & le
struction of the Elkhart High School auditorium |n 1924,

The Cid Annex was replaced a3 the high school by the building of
the facility later known as Samuel Strong in 1591" However, the Oid Annn:
continued in use after that date a5 an additional high school I:lu_lldmg.
The evidence for this appeared in the June 1913 Pennant, referring Il::-
ghie 1913 gradustes starting at the building now named Samusl Strong:

Whila English and Commuercial classes were in tha
Samuel Strong building, the Latins and the College
Preparatory people were axiled to the guardianshigp
of Mr. Wood, in the Annex, the rear part of the
old Central Building on High Street, left standing
when the rest was torn down,

A further insight into this can be gained from the fact that “new" Cantral
(1908} was built without any space for a heating |:|-|.u_n1:, sugesting that
the Oid Annex furnished hest for “new” Central until 1911, 'I'.'I.m mu.ld
surmise from this evidence that even then new high school n-!_ul:llrm in
Elkhart tended to be inspired by overflowing numbers of high schoal
students into  facilities other than those intended to house them.

High School [Samuel Strongh: 1882-1811

The nine years of use of the Annex as a high school building must
hive Swggested to the school board that future wmrth. should be con-
sidered in planning. This time, they intended that a building worthy of
the sdvance of secondary education should be nml.r«idm:.l. They -.'.Hatmd a
e Site, @ triangular phece of property that had been given 1o the city by
a Mr. Samuel E. Strang. THe triangle consisted of 28,132 square feet of
land at the corner of Pigeon (now known as Lexington) and Vistula Eh-lm
The Board of School Trustees awarded the contract in April 1892 to build
4 high school building in place of Mr. Strong's former |'II:|I'rI:I'. The con-
Struction had been necessitated by “the dark and poarly ventilated rooms
in the Central school building, the crowded condition of all the rooms
and especially that of the High School” The school I:u.rd.npmrlnthr
warmed to the idea of a magnificent new high school I:|-|.||I|:||ng. hmﬁuu
later in the year they decided to change the outside construction from
Meq hrin:l-: tu*lndian:‘rlinmmm at an increased cost of $1500. The 1otal
=05t of the building was $35,683.03, certainly modest encugh by modern
ftandards. However, the description of the building suggests that it was
fuite an impressive educational edifice: a two-stary stone :l.mu:_tum. with
# assembly room that seated 200, four “commaodious™ recitation rooms
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furnished with single desks on the second floor, a library with more than
5 000 volumes, “selected with special reference to the needs of the students
in the High School and the grammar grades.” a superintendent’s office, a
chemical laboratory, biological and physical science rooms fitted with
“all the modern smprovements and the necessary appliances for the
teaching of chemistry, physics, physiology, zoclogy, and botamy, acoard-
img to the latest and most approved methods of teaching these subjects.”
The building was ready o be occupied in January of 1893, I apgparent
opulenoe was justified by the local mewspaper which declared at the
opening of the new school that " The schools of the city have always been
the pride of her citizens The people have never found fault at the
expenditure of money for tha benefit of the public schools . . . . The
dedication of the new high school was a local event of much significance.”
One can imaging that akthough the science equipment and other facilities
would ook crude and sparse to us today, they were probably axcellent
by 1883 sisndards, and obwiously in 18893, Elkhartans wanted the best
for their schools. To bring this grandiose talk about the new high schoaol
into proper perspective, it might halp the reader to be rerminded that the
1884 high schoal faculty consisted of 5. B. MoCracken, who was both
the principal and the science department; Misa Clara WVan Nuys, English
teackher: Miss Ella Wilkinson, Latin teachar: and Mr. Morrison, the mathe-
rmatics teacher, One could speculate that the magnificent science equip-
rment and rich science curriculurm were inspired by the persuasiveness of
M. MeCracken, the science teacher, wheo alss happened 1o be the principal.

To get an idea of the kind of commundty that was creating swech a
structure, the resder may note that the population of Elkhart was 11,360
in 1880: 15,184 in 1900; and 19,282 in 1910. Local property taxes in
1904 totaled 51.30 on each 5100 assessed valuation and the School Fund
portion of that was just 5 05, That the school board was not content 1o
rest on its laureks is evidenced in this building program by the board
continuing to make improvernents such as installing outside fire escapes
im 1808 and sanitary drinking fountains in 19008_

Elkhart High School (Sophomore Divislonl: 1911-1966 (1872]

The rapid growth of the community agabn threatened to overflow
school facilities. |n 1908, a “new” Central school was completed on the
corner of Thind and High Streets, contalning 24 rooms and costing
581,153, This Central building, not 1o be confused with “old” Central
that had been Built in 1868 on the other eorner, Second and High Streets,

17




was first uwsed for grades one through eight. In 1811, however, grades cng
throwgh six were moved to the former high school which had been renamed
“Samuel Strong” by the school board. Then in 1818, Central School
became officially a junior high school and continued as such until 19652
when the last students in grades seven throwgh nine were tramsferred to
the new North Side Junior High School on Lawrence Street.

L1

-

Although the “new” Central schogl provwided adequate space for the
elementary grades, the high school on Vistuls and Lexington had bacome
overcrovded and the community decided 1o build a high school that
would allow for growth for some time In the future. The result was a
building, built In 1910 and opened in 1911, that served Elkhart High
School students for BO years, The “splendid™ new high school building
was built to maitch the Central Schoal building, creating & unified whole
itretching alang the entire block on High Street between Second and Third
Streets. Central School and the High School were connected by passage-
ways on all three floors so that people maving into the community later
rarely suspected that they were two buildings constructed at different
timas. Mr. Glenn Updike, Principal of Elkchart High Schaal from 1983 1o
1865, explained that evidence of the jmining together of the two buildings
could be seen by the fact that the esst wall of rearm 28 was two to three
feet thick. Former Superintendent Joe Rice remembered that & common
wall was not used, but two separate walls were cofstructed making the
wall betwwan Central and the High Schoal thres feat gight inches thick,

The new High School built in 1910 and opened in 1911, cost $142 558,
According to ome source,

-

IFootings lor Cenvtral can be seer on belt]

+ +« - Uhe students and teachers were delighted with
the many rooms, the spacious stairways and en
trances, and particularly to be in a building whose
first floor was on the street level. It had a central
heating plant, restrooms on every floor, electric

lights and numerous other festures comskdered
luxuries at that time.

‘.IEIJE Picture of Old Central and Annex Just Before Central School Construction Began.

R e e el 4

The 39,022 sguare foot building, which occupied half a city block,
impressed & historian who wrote in 1916 that it had “imposing colonnaded

entrances both on South Third Strest and Wst High Street™ and that the
three-story bullding was

* Fig. 11

-« . . Stately, massive in appearsnce, yet archi- l
tecturally besutiful, and it seems more like wme 1

14




important governrment building than & schoolhouse.
Once within, however, the visitor sees that nothing
in the way of forethought, or expenditure, has
been spared to bring to the sdvanced pupils of the
public school system every modern advantage of
equipment. Manual training, domaestic science,
laboratory  investigation, business training, the
latest in sanitary precautions, good light, schentific
heating and ventilation, and tastetul and pleasan
surroundings are all included in the educational
scheme as worked out in this splendid Central
school . . .,

However, all this structure and planning required further expansion
to accommodate the everdincreasing student body and an incraasing
demand for mose elaborate facilities. & series of additional facilities wers
planned and constructed. The first was the construction in 1924 of a
combined auditorium and gymnasium between the two wings of the High
School buikding and along the slender portion that faced on High Street.
Mr. Rice recalled learning that the students had spearheaded the drive for |
a néw auditorivm in the 1920°s because Goshen had recently built one
ard Elkhart wanted 1o keep uwp. The heating plant was located at the
intended site of the suditorium and, according to Mr. Updike, there had
also been some gymnasiem facilities there. Aftar the heating plant was
moved across the alley, the new addition with the auditorium above and |
the gymnasium below was built for 170,327, which, for thoss whao want |
to make somathing of it, is more than the $142 558 spent on constructing
the rest of the High Sehool in 1911, It would be fair to add that the First
World War hed intervensd betwssn the two events and inflation had
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changed the purchasing power of the dollar. In 1825, the new gymnasium
was opened. It was built to hold 1800 spectators with B70 reserved seats
with backs, aslthough the 1925 Pennant Annual reports that on some
occasions 2000 persons crowded into the gym. The playing floor was
séparated from the seats by a wall. The gym was dedicated that vear at a
basketball game with South Bend, with the ceremonies being led by Mr.
A, L. Trester, Secretary of the Indiana High School Athletic Assoclation.
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Basketball at EHS was very successful and competition for seats in
this gym was brisk. Mr. Dorrance |. Rogers, who came to Elkhart High
School in 1950, recalled that before North Side Gym was built, students
left school after classes at 3:20 p.m. and went immediatety to the Second
Street entrance, which was used as the entrance to the gym, to wait in line
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Elkkhart High School Newly Built in 1911
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for the basketball game that evening so that they could sit near the front.
He recalled that portable benches were set up on the running track 1o
pack in the crowd. Adult fans were rationed to tickets for thres games
pEr SEA0N.

Above the gym was the suditoriem. |t was formally presented to
the students by the School Board on Apeil 2, 1925, The 1925 Pennant
Annual offered this glowing description:

Elkhart's suditorium is said by many to be the
largest and most beauwtiful for the size of the city,
af any In the middla west, And this is by no means
an exaggeration. The Auwditorium is a large room,
with a balcony and has seating accommaodations
for nearly two thoussnd. The decorations are gx-
ceedingly beautiful, and the lighting effects are
remarkable. Most of the interior work ks done by
hand, and consigts of artigthe stencilling on walls
and ceiling, Hanging chandeliers furmigh the Iight,
along with wall brackets,

One of the author's recollections of this structure is that when one
was In the suditorium and physical education students wers running
belor, he could hear a dull rumble as the many feet pounded on the
track, and the vibrations geve the newcomer the uneasy sensation that the
building might collapse. However, the suditorium stood firmly for forty-
eight years,

Musiciang recall that the auditorium had remarkably good acoustics,
even though in the later years of use, sensitive audisnces were disconcerted
by the wooden seats which creaked, the back doors that closed anly with
a bang, and the woodan balcony floor that protested nosily wihenever
anyone tried to beave in the middle of the performance of a quiet plece of
music. The fine acoustical properties of the suditorium caused a flurry of
plans in 1971 and 1972 to save the auditoriem. Community groups, such
as the Elkhart Symphony Orchestra, which had been performing there
since 1948, expressed strong interest in saving the suditorium that had
housed so many memorable performances.

The next of the planned additions 1o Elkhart High School was the
construction in 1928 of the Vocational Annex on Franklin Street at a
cost of $126,774, Mr. Rice heas stated that this wocational building was
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for the baskethall game that evening so that they could sit near the front.
He recalled that portable benches were s8t up an the running track 1o
pack in the crowd. Adult fans were rationed to thckets for thres games
per SEASON.

Above the gym was the auditoriem. |t was formally presented fo
the students by the School Board on April 2, 1925, The 1925 Pennant
Anmual offerad this glowing description:

Elkhart's auditorium is said by many to be the
largest and most beautiful for the size of the city,
af any In the midda west, And this is by no means
an axaggeration. The Awditorium is a large room,
with a balcorny and has seating accommodations
far nearly two thoussnd. The decorations ane gx-
ceedingly beautiful, and the lighting effects are
remarkable. Most of the Interior work & done by
hand, and consists of artisthe stencilling on walls
and ceiling, Hanging chandeliers furnish the Iight,
along with wall brackets,

One of the author's recollections of this structure i3 that when one
was in the suditorium and physical education students were running
belowr, he could hesr a dull rumble as the many feet pounded on the
track, and the vibrations geve the newcomaer the uneasy sensation that the
building might collapse. However, the suditorium stood firmly for forty-
eight years,

Musiciang recall that the suditorium had remarkably good acoustics,
even though in the later years of usa, sansitive audisnces were disconcerted
by the wooden seats which creaked, the back doors that closed only with
a bang, and the woodan balcony floor that protested nosily wihenever
anyone tried to leave in the middle of the performance of a quiet plece of
music. The fine acoustical properties of the suditorium caused a flurry of
plans in 1971 and 1972 to save the auditoriem. Community groups, such
as the Elkhart Symphony Orchestra, which had been parforming there
since 1948, expressed strong interest in saving the suditorium that had
housed so many memorable performances.

The next of the planned sdditions 1o Elkhart High School was the

construction in 1928 of the Vocational Annex on Franklin Street at a
cost of $126,774, Mr. Rice hes stated that this wocational building was

25
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gia of the first of its kind in Indiana and was & forerunner 1o the Elkhar
araa Career Center opanad in 1871, The construction incheded & passage-
way on the scond floor across the alley to the rest of the High School.
Cince the Vocational Annex houssd not only industrial education classes
ard shops, but alss the instrumental music and home economics programs,
the second floor passage scross the alley became an enormous bottlenack,
which by the |latter 1950's required that & third floor be built on top of
the second floor passegeway. It was nicknamed the “Skywway™ in honor
of the Chicego Skyway, a8 highway that had besn recently built to soar
over the top of South Chicago’s industrial area. Mr. Rogers recalled that
tg add the third floor reguired that comssderable reinforcement ol the
gristing passageway be done first, The record seems dim in identifying the
gract year of this relatively minor construction. Mr. Rex Harvey sugoests
19561957, althuu;h; the year could have been 1958, which is the date
that Mr. Rice believes to be correct.

Elkhart High Schools early outdoor athletic facilities left much 1o
be desired. Prior to 18923, EHS athletics were hald at the "0k Driving
Park,” the locathon of which escapes most residents. Mre. DeMeyer, whao
attended EHS Im 1924, recalled that there was a “Driving Range” near
where the present Marth Skde Junior High Sehool i now loceted, but that
thiere wad another one at the east side of Elkhart. In any cass the 1924
Pennant Annusl records that the ald "Driving Park"™ was

totally inedeguate in all its facilities. Crowds had
to stand and jostle one another about to see the
game. |t was incomvenient of approach and this
kept many away. It hinderad the team some, too,
in it practice. |t iBn't 30 nice to rush downstairs
after school, jump Into your togs and rush up town
o catch a rickety odd sireetcar 1o get (o practice
on teme, The Teld was poorly draimed, the track
Wi poorly suimsd o s purpose, and no basetall
or tennis facilities could be arranged.

Whean Mr. James Addoon Hice, a local lewyer baorn in Mew York,
died July 12, 1823, his will gave B4 aocres to the city to be used as a park
or for similar purposes. He also gave 40 scres 1o be wused a5 a cemetery and
$2700 to the General Hospital Fund, The School Board petitioned the
city to give twelve acres 1o the schools. The result of this philanthropy
Wit that the footbhall stadium called Rice Field was built there in 1923
8% was the newest Elichart High School (now Central) in 1986, The ad
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joining Rice Park, Rice Elementary School, and Rice Cematary ware all
added to the community as a result of this gift, Maive newcomers to
Elkhart during the tenure of Mr. Joe C. Rice as Superintendent of Schools,
assumed that he either had such power and influence that all these civie
landrmarks had been named in his honor or that he got the job of Super-
intendent because he was o member of such a wealthy and influential
family in the community. In actual fact, Mr. ke Rice and Mr. James Rice
ware not related, thus a conspiracy theory breaks down in this case,

Rice Park was formally dedicated October 20, 1923, with an
Elkhart High footbalt wictory over Rensselaer, 130, A grandstand was
eracted for 1800 fans on the west side of the field with knockdown
hleachers for 600 more on the other side, A “serviceable” cinder rosd
led 1o the park to attract more spectators,

In 1824, Elkhart High School had an enormously successful 8-0
football season. The enthusiasm stirred up by this championship team
inspired the genercsity of the students and alumni, who raised $18,000
in contributions to build a fleld house which is still in wse, One might
wonder why successful teams seem to require new facilities, when logic
suggests that losing teams need them more. Monetheless, the resulting
fiedd house that was formally dedicated on September 26, 1926, was
proclirmed by the 1928 Pennant Annual as “one of the finest in northern
Indiana. It is a combination of beauty, service, and convenience.” One
rmay, in later years, suggest that an athletic field house might not deserve
description as a thing of “beauty,” but there is no question that the twao-
story, fireproof facility equipped with showers, lockers, and heating plant
was of the finest guality.

Im 1538, Elhart athletics benefited from a program of the Mes Deal,
The Works Progress Administration (WPA) carried out many kinds of
projecis designed o provide jobs in a period of depression while at the
same time producing public works that might never have been completed
otherwite, Thus, WPA labor reclaimed marshy land in the Rice Fiald area
and constructed the concrete stadium that seats GO0 and is still in wse
in 1972, Wooden stadium seats seating 4000 were installed on the other
side of the field.

There was still another imposing sdditlon to the athletic facilities
of Elkhart High School reflecting the growing support and interest of the
comimunity in the foriumes of local basketball. Local “Hoosier Hysteria®
wad s compelling that the High Street gym, seating only 1800 fans, was
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complétely unable to contain it, and indeed, overflow crowds had been
comman since 1940, Thus in 1954, Elkhart opened Morth Side Gymnasium,
which cost 51,350,000 to build. It was located on the Morth Side Junbor
High School site since it was one of the few schools with sufficient space
for a facility of this magnitude. Not only was there permanant seating for
B248, but parking was provided for some 2000 cars. In fact, this gym was
$0 large that it was listed in promotional material on postcards and
Chamber of Commerce brochures as “'the workd's largest high school gym "
In case soeme people might think that it was unnecessary for an Indiana
city of modest size to build the world's largest “anything,” the newspapers
carefully pointed out that many Indians communities built gymnasiums
very much out of praportion to the population of the towns, The mosi
noteworthy examples of such construction given were Fillmore (population
350} with a gym for 1500, Morth Salem (population 544) with a gym for
1300, Waynetown (population 668) with a gym for 2400, and Greemvood
[population 3066) with a gym for 3100, It should be added that these
facilities were not regarded a3 colossal mistakes in Indlana because thess
tiny communities reqularly filled thess apparently oversized gyms with
fans that appesred from everywhere. Certainly after a review of those
statistics, no one could eriticize a city of 38,000 for bulkding a gym that
would hold a mere quarter of the city! It should also be noted that Indus
trial Arts classrooms were inchuded in this plant, and of course the gym
was akso usad for Morth Side's physical education classes & well as many
other schonl and community funstions,

Not all of the additional facilities at Elkhart High School ware
scheduled or planned, The Depression and the Secomnd World War caused
a virtual stop in school builkding in Elkhart for some 26 years, although
the city experienced steady growth during this construction standstill.
The problems of growth resulting in overcrowding was intensified by the
tamous “Baby Boom™ following World War 11. Again Elkhart School City
began @ building program starting with the elementary and then the
junicr high schools in an effort to keep ahesd of the wave of additional
children as they grew. Meanwhile, axtra space was sought to house the
imcrease in high sehool students,

The ¥ M.C.A., located on the southesst cormer of Franklin and
Third Streets, was rented for its swimming pool and gym facilities, The
earllest mention of the use of the Y M.C.A. is in the 1842 Pennant Annual
which reported that it was used by the high school during the school
year 1941-1842. Mr. Rax Harvey, who joined the high school faculty in
January 1838 and is presantly its longest tenured teacher, recalled that




during Workd War 11, much emphasis was placed on physical fitness as g
patriotic duty. As & result, the school system rented the ¥ M.C.A. fym-

nasium and pool, as well as the bowling facilities, as part of the physical

fitness program. Mr. Hasvey reported that he was the one who began
Elkhart High School's swimming program. Furthermore, he stated that the
high school obtained the southesst commer of High and Fourth Stresty
just west of the present Four Arts Building and set up an obstacle course
for defense-type physical fitness training. Scattered récords availabibg
sinca that time show that the Y.M.C.A, continued to function as a Tacility
for boys' physical egucation and health classes in the years following,
Tha ¥.M.C_A. facilities were available about this time because there hiad
been a spectacular murder of a child in the *"Y** and parents were reluctant
to bet their smaller children go there, Some parents objectsd to letting
high school classes meat there, also, Mr. Updike recalled that on at least
ofe occasion the choir rehearsed in the ¥ MUC.A_, and Mr. Rice confirmed
that chair rehearsals were conducted in the ¥ .M.C.A. when ha came in
1848 and were moved to the Methodist Church In 1951, The ¥.M.C A,
continued to serve Elkhart High School classes until 1988 when the
opening of the Senlor Division (Elkhart Central High School) provided
more room. However, the swimming team continued to use this facility
until the completion of the new high school swimming peol in 1988,

The use of the Trinity Methodist Church, which faced Sscond Straet
and was across the alley south of the High School, is a particularly interest-
ing case of expansion to provide “emergency” space (this “emergency™
lasted nearly 30 yearsl. The Trinity Methodist Church building had basn
construcied in 1889 and was one of the older landmarks of the city. Tha
1842 Pennant Annual reports that it was first used by the High Schoad in
194711342, At that time only the gym was used for the glirls’ physical
education program. Mr. Updike recalled that the Methodist Church was
not used every year at first. Apparently, in 1948 the School Board
entered inte more formal relathons with the Trinity Methoedist Church to
use its facilities. The result was that an underground connection was built
between the gym in the Church and the High School buliding, and
wchool use of the Church increased. Mr. Rogers recalled that in 1950 when
he came to Elkhart High School, the Chureh was used for social studies
classes as well as for the choir and girls' physical education. Mrs. Alice
Fox, who joined the faculty in 1943, remembered that the Trimity
Methodist Church had sold the building to Elkhart Schoal City durfing
school year 1956-1957 as part of the church's building program.
Mr. Rice stated that the church was bought on a five year contract snd
that the first payment was made before the congregation left. The con-
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gregation continued to use the church building until 1981, when thair
own new church building was ready for use on East Jackson Boulevard,
Mrs. Fox recalled that when the Methodist congregation left the church
entirely, the school moved the library into the basement level of the
church in 1982, in order to meet the space requirements imposed by the
North Central Association for a high school of |13 size. Next, she reported,
the closed passageway across the alley for students going to classes in the
church was constructed leading to the library and the other classrooms.
Mr. Rice remembered pictures in the newspaper showing students crossing
the alley to the church in winter weather without coats, and a public out-
ery claimed the school was endangaring students’ health, The construction
of this passapgewsy was regarded as bizarre because building codes required
that expendivg construction technigues be wsed in any modern school
construction in order that the structure be fireproof. The irony was that
students spent the day sitting in wooden-floored classrooms but during
the two-second passage to the wooden-floored library, they were safely
housed in a modern fireproof passageway.

The suthor tasght in the Methodist Church Building from 1961
until 1966, when the opening of the Senior Division ended the nead to
conduct classes in the church even though it continued to house girks'.
gym classes and the library until the building was razed in 1970. He has
many vivid memories of these facilities that were then some BO vears old,
andd in September 1965, noted in a proposad professional journal articls
that he taught in & room in the church that reguired that he speak above
the following background noksss: the choir in the room sbove rebearsing
the “Hallelujah Chorus,” the girls in the gym below shrisking over a volley-
ball game, the engines of the hotrods being tuned up in the averflowing
auto mechanics class working in the alley just outside his window, the
whine of the saw in the wood shop scross the alley, and finally, the dump-
ing of the trash cans during most of one class period each day. Teachers
who held classes in the church near the garbage can “pickup” solamnly
testified that the garbage men climbed the fire escape snd slowly poured
out the trash, can by can, to make the most noise possible, This is perhaps
an exsggeration, but the problem of noise made life very difficult for
students and teachers in soclal studies classes in the church in thoss days.
An annual harrassment oecurred each spring when the concert band
rehaarsed in the auditorium for the final concert. The problem was that
the back side of the stage faced on the alley and the apen windows of the
back stage were just across from the open windows of some of the social
Pudies classrooms. Invariably, the concert band found it necessary to
refhaarse such stirring numbers as “Stars and Stripes Porever,”
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The suthor slso remembers frequent sssociation with mice in the
church building. The soclal stedies departrment had taken over the farmer
pastar's office as & departmantal headguarters. The mitz.tli'h:ulll,- “church-
mice ") apparéntly did not approve of the nésws oocupants and frequenthy
came Into the offio: to try o stare down the teachers, The author decided
I SEt & mouse trap, and &ach evening upson his departure from the school
carefully set the trap near his desk. Each morning, his efforts were usually
rewarded by a mouse being firmly caught in the trap. The author found &
tall custodial trash can in a corner of the building, and, sssuming that tha
can 'was empiiad each day by tha busy Ccustodwans, he I"."l"l"lr.'l'l.iﬂj his rap
into it. After several days there were no more mice (in the social studies
offica, the librarian amended!] and the suthor forgot about the matter.
That is, he forgot about it until one day he entered the building to
Encountar an odor moré poweriul than the annual prodoection of hydrogen
sulfide by the chemistry classes. It wok a time filled with stitled gagging
and wnnkled noses to remamber the decesssd mice and o locate the
trash can, which 1T was now evedent, wad not emptied daily!

The church building had a parlor for receptions which was long and
narrow with a fireplace at one end. The author recalls teaching in this
rpom the first year be was in Elkbhart {1381]. It was decided to put the
teacher's desk at the fireplace and of the room which was now affection:
ately nicknamed “"The Bowling Alley” bacause of s inconveniently kong
and marrow shape. Rather, the bowling alley effect was seen In the arrange-
ment of student desks, which feced the teacher's desk four abreast and
stratched back for eight rows. |n fact, the desks were so close together
that one had to turn sidewsys to walk betwean tham, and the teacher’s
desk was mounted on a platform to give sudents in the back rows a
fighting chance to see the teacher who could lean casually on the fireplace
mantel while making a point. Since there was no built-in blackboard, &
portable one was installed that would saivel whan someons tried to write
on it. Class recitations were occasionally punctuated by curses from the
auto mechanics students in the alley when they bruised their knwckles
with a wrench. Perhaps the greatest distraction of all was the home located
across the allay from the “Bowling Alley" and which was later taken over
by the school system for adminisirative offices. The unshaded window of
the kitchen was directly across from the classroom, and morning classes
ware treated 10 scenes of tha man of the house staggering to the breakias
table in his undershirt. The memories of thess scenes are amusing to recall,
but at the time, sericus students and teachers were greatly distressed by
these obstacles to education.
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Owercrowding at Elichart High School akso brought an the use of the
streets for school activities. The Marching Band had to rehsarse an High
Street to prepare for half-time shows for the football games. Robert
Ralston, the Director of Instrumental Music for Elkhart Community
Schools in 1972, recalled that when he first came as Amsistant Band
Director in 1951, the marching band practiced in the 500 block of West
High Street. He noted that lines were painted across the street avery five
yards from the thirty-yard line to the other thirty-yard line and that the
alley was the fifty-yard line. Further, he said that the palice obligingly
blocked off the street during band practice, and that local motorists
presumably knew which hours o avoid the 500 block of High Street. In
fact, driving in the ares of the High School required special vigilance
because the track team also practiced sprints on Franklin Street, Mr. Rice
recalled that a student would rush up to the intersection of High and
Third Streets to flag motorists away from the track ares.

The last solution to the student overflow of Elkhart High Schoal
before the present Central High School building was constrected was the
acquisitien of the abandoned Carnegle Library by the Business Departrmiant
in 1983. The Carnegie Library, festuring neo-classical architécture, was
built in 1802 but had recently been replaced by a new Elkhart Public
Library building which was located on the southeast comer of High and
Second Streets. The School Board received permission from the city io
use the abandoned Carnegie Library for classes until now facilities would
be available. Miss Helen Kirkland, a member of the Business Drepartrment
at that time, recalled that some remodeling was required, especially
partitions to form classrooms. Her other migfhary of this period is that
the lighting was poor and inadeguate for the needs of business classes.
Teachers on the faculty during this time reremnber that students com-
plained often of not having enough time in the five-minute passing period
o get from a class in the main high school building across two stresets
[being sure to walt for tha “walk™ signal, of course) to the Carnegie
Library, The problem was especially severe, students complained, in cold
weather when they might wish to stop off to et a coat or boots for the
crossing. Much administrative time was expended pacing off the distance
to see if the complaints were justified. When the Senior Division operied
in 18686, the high school had no further use for the Carnegie Library and
it was Later demaolighed.

This problem of providing facilities for an expanding high school

population had existed for some time. As sarly & 1948, Superintendant
Harold H. Church prepared a special study of school building needs in
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1907 View of Carnegie Library Used by EHS from 1963 to 1966

Fig. 24




Elkhart Coil

[

Elkhart which said:

The Senior High School plant represents the most
serious handicap in the way of progress in the
Elkhart Public Schools, Immediate attention should
be given to provide more space for the expansion
of the regular classes 83 outlined in the ity re-
vised curriculum and the modernization of the
present plant,

The 1858 Pennant Annual complained about

- » » Classes spilling over into the Methodist Church
next dn-nl' students studying most anywhere (in
cars, in corners, at the Public Library), and an

influx of 760 sophs making our halls more crowded

When Mr. Ralston took over the band after Mr. Miiller res in
Decermber 1951, he had to rehearse in room 338, a farmer hnrmu.
nomics room. Mot only did the room have no risers, but it was also handi-
capped by a dressing room that projected into the room, rmaking it
L-shaped, Most teachers who worked in the High Strest bullding have
stories to tell about using makeshift facilities and worn out puiprent,
For examiple, in some portions of the building, the wiring was so Inadequate
for the use of new electrical equipment such as motion picture and over-
I'r.u:l projectors that the teachers would take turns using the electrical
circuits. When someone plugged in one appliance too many, the fuses
would blow and classes would continue without lights or projectors until
the custodians could replace them. Since some rooms had no electrical
outhetz at all, a common experience for teachers waa to have anoiher
teacher walk in with & plug in hand and ask to borrow some electricity.
Students reported that gaps in the windows were sometimes so large that
m'n'_'lmuh blow in and settle on their desks. The result often was that
the window side of a classroom was uncomfortably cold and drafty while
the ather side of the room was overheated by the hot air blasting out in
& valiant attempt 1o hold back the cold.

During the later 1950 and early 1060's the class schedule was ax-
panded in an attempt 1o get more students into the high school, By the
md_ of its service as the high school building in 1968, the downtown
facility saw students arriving for classes st 7:00 a,m, and schoal continuing
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untll 4;30 p.m. Howewer, neither teachers nor students were expacted to
e in school for the entire eight period day plus homercom session,
Students and teachers began arriving for 7:00 classes; more came at 8:00,
grd still others at 9:00 and 10:00, with all students presant for homencom
period and announcements. By 10:30 a.m. some students had finkshed
three and & half hours of school and were ready to go home. As a result,
tha only time that one could be sure of contacting a teacher or student
was during the half-hour homeroom period, and student-teacher con
ferences outside of class were almost impossible to arrange. The problem
was further intensified by the difficulty in “blocking” stedent programs
in order that & student would hawve all of his classes in consecutive periods
g that he could finish his work and go home. Unfortunately the classes
werg not ahways evailable when the student might nesd them, and, as a
result, students commonly had schedules with unassigned hours batween
classes. Since there was not always room In study halls, students wers
often free to leave the building. Many problems developed because of this
situation: complaints from teachers about students congregating noisily
putside their clasmroom doors, complaints from downtown merchants
about incresses in youthful shoplifting, complaints from parents about
thair sons and daughters leaving school and being tempted not 1o raturn
for their next elasses, complaints from students about not having a place
to study and wasting much time waiting for class, and complaints from
the public library and municipal building about rowdy studenis kounging
about and Smdking.

Another change in the school system that helped to provide more
room for high school students before 1066 was the creation of the junior
high school, After 1908, when Central School was built, it was usad for
grades 1-8 until 1811, when grades 1-6 wera moved to Samuel Strong. In
1919 Elkhart High School Principal John W. Holdeman recommanded
that Central School become a junior high school (meaning a separate
school for grades 7 and B) and in 18921, Roosevelt was built and some
of the junior high schoal students at Central wera sent thare.

Erom 1621 to 1840, Roosevelt Junkor High School included grades
7 throwgh 9 while at the same time, Central Junior High School had only
grades 7 and 8. A ninth grader in the Central Junior High School district
was g high school student, but his contemporary 81 Roosevelt Junior
High School was not. In 1940, Superintendent Church studied the pro-
blem and the School Board adopted the 6-3-3 plan of school organization,
wnd after this time Elkhart High School became Elkhart Senior High
School, None of thess developments helped provide more room for the
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high school, but the sventual expansion of the junior highs did, In 1952
Morth Side Junior High School was constrected and all junior high
students were removed from Central, thus providing much needed space
at Elkhart Senior High School.

Ewventually, the Elkhart School City sdministration moved out of
the high school building to make more room for the growing school
When Mr., Rice came to Elkhart in 1943, the house on the northeast
comer of High and Third Streets had been purchased as a prospective
site for home economics instruction. However, when the howse was
rejected as unsafe for school purposes by the fire marshal, Mr. Rice
moved into the house with the School City administration, thus freging
more space in Central for high school classes,

Elkhart High School, Senior and Sophomore Divisions: 1966-1972

When Mr. Rice came to Elkhart as superintendent in 1849, he heard
immediately about the crowding in the high school and about the need
for nenw facilities, At first, it was assumed that the city would just build
extensions to the existing facility. ldeas were advanced to take the block
on the north side of High Street, where the present Municipal Building is,
and build more high school facilitiss. Another plan was to take the block
west of the sxisting high school for the same purpose. But Mr, Rice
studied both the projected enrcliment figures and the available evidence
on efficiency and school size, and determined that it was time for a
second high school in the community, Elkbart High School enrollments
climbed from 1079 in 1949, when Mr, Rice carne, to 2680 in 1966-1066,
the last year before the opening of the Senior Divislen (now Elkhart
Central High Schoal) Even though these chikdren were already boen, Mr.
Rice remembered that townspaople were very reluctent to admit that
such phemomanal growth wouwld heppen at the high school, and somae
aven guestioned his integrity (they called him a "liar™] in projecting
such figures,

The studiss of efficient school sives indicated that high schools
were offective in multiples of 700, Furthermore, the data showed that
high schools larger than 150 students are no more economical because
additional administrators, librarians, audiowvisual personnel and other
staff members are needed. Mr. Rice concluded that 2500 students was
the largest a high school should ever be, and began recommending a
second high school as early as 1855,

There were some suggestions at that time that the best place for
the second high school would be at Roosevelt School, Then in 1958, a
Federal urban renewal project created the possibility of buliding a high
gchoal on the land west of Benham Avenue betwesn Hickory Street and
Indisna Avenue with the Federal Government paying most of the cost.
According to Mr. Rice, there was some local support for the idea, but
there was also much resistance because the area that would be cleared out
to make room for the high school building was populated by Megroes,
and prejudiced attitudes produeced fear that black citizens would rmove
out of the area into all-white sections of town, Many parents were afraid
of sending their sons and daughters “down there™ to school in a nesghbor-
hood they considered to be dangerous. A5 a result of this pressure, the
plan was dropped and Federal help in financing a new high school was lost.

By 1960, Mr. Rice stated that seriows interest in & new high school
existed in the community but that the matter was complicated by several
factors that made decisions about what and where to build guite difficult.
In the first place, some people wanted to build a nice new bullding for the
“nice” people of the community and leave the old building with its V-
cational Annex to the working class people, Megroes and others they con-
sidered “undesirable.” Fortunately, this pressure was resisted by most
thoughtful citizens and the Board of Education. In the second place,
there were many people who resisted the idea of dividing the athlates and
musiciens and thereby possibly weakening the performance power of
Elkhart High School participants in these activities. Furthermore, some
people ganuinely feared that the community would be harmfully divided
by hawing more than one high school, Elkhart witimately decided to hawe
tere high schools only when people ssw the Senior Division and reslized
b out-of-date the High Street building was by comparison.

Another complicating factor was of a rore serious nature, The
State of Indiana had passed a law requiring that small school districts
recrganize into larger ones in order to bring about more economy and
efficiency. Up to this time, Elkbart School City had served just the city
of Elkhart bt had taken tuition students into the high school from Cleve-
lared ardd Qsolo Townships. These townships had experienced enormous
growrth from 1920 to 1960 (Cleveland 539%, Osolo 959%], but their total
populations in 1960 [Cleveland 2501, Osolo BE22) were not enough 1o
support an entire school system, It was asumed, then, that referemdum
plans would call for reorganizimg Elkhart School City to include some
towvnships. There were other townships with marginal populations and
school systems, and Washington, Concord and Baugo were all considered
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possibilities. City people were hostile to taking in these outlying aress
inte their prosperows and modern school system, and several recrganization
plans were either voted down or not even tested at the polls because they
were 50 unpopular, While all this transpired, school officlals were hindersd
by uncertainty because i Elkhart continuwed as just a city school system,
then her expansion needs would be limited in the future because the
children were being reared more and more In the suburban aress. On the
other hand, it was impossible to phﬁiﬂihﬂlmﬂh‘mﬂihlnmui‘
plans when no one knes which towfdhips might be included In the distrie
The decision was finally made to build the Senior Division (row EI
Central High School) in Rice Park and make it large enough to aces
misdate just the students of the city iself with room to expand in o
future if necassary. Then, if townships were sdded to the school syst
other high school buildings could be constructed.

Finally, in September 1986, a new school corporation began it
exlstence after citizen approvel by woter referendum — The Elk
Community Scheol Corporation consisting of Elkhart City, Cl
Ozolo, and Washington Townships. Bristol High School was closed
its students and teschers were included in Elkhart High School. Fo
Bristol High School students reported to the author that they
appalled, at first, by leaving a high school in which their entire =
clasa contained about as many students as would be found in just
classroom at Elkhart High School, They feared loss of their sep
idantity {a fear that became a reality] and they feared going to the
high school in the big city which they heard had violence and vice.
fears on the latter counts subsided when they actually came to Elk
High School and were not beaten and rotbed,

One of the last complications in building the Senior Division result
from years of litigation over land that the city of Elkhart had annexed in
Cancord Township and which both school systemns continued to claim.
The ares, heving few children to sducate and much industry to tax, Wi
of great interest 1o both parties. Elkhart School City had obtained B
scres of land on the east side of town a8 a site for a high school, and tha
city had even put In swer lines. However, the land became invalved in 8
court struggle with Concord and school officlals realized that they would
be unable to sell bonds on the disputed acreage, It was then decided to
use land that was already available in the city: Rice Park, This site became
quite controversial in the community becauss it was rumored to be soft
bottom land prone to flooding, on which no substantial building could ba
erected. Local folklore that enow and rein was greater in Rice Park than
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elsewhere in the city was encouraged by elements in the city that opposed
any high school construction. Mr. Rice's Rice Field flood information
dating back to 1924 showed that it had never been coversd with water,
Test borings confirmed that with a ressonable amount of fill dirt (no
more than had been used in building Morth Skde Junior Highl and a sump
pump system of the usual sort found in most buildings in downtown
Elkhart, the building could be built there safely. Rumors circulated
persistently that the building would either sink out of sight or would float
down the river. In December 1866, when the building was under con-
struction, there was a flood of the Elkhart River. The water rose 9% fest
above normal, and critics almost rejoiced that their charges would be
vindicated. Actually, the river could have risen four to five mare fest
before entering the building. The tunnels under the building had some
watar seepage, but only one sump pump was activated, and it did not run
all the time, For the next two years, Mr. Rice conducted tours of the
basement for any who questioned him about the flooding controversy to
show them that the building was indeed there and that the basement was
not filled with water as was constantly alleged, He carefully explainsd
that Lincoln School had pumps that ran all the time and that the high
school building down town also had & sump pump in the tunnel to the
Methodist Church which excited no one. Yet many townspeople eentinued
1o believe there was something ominous about having five sump pumps in
the Senior Division bullding. It can ba reported that at the time of this
publication the Senior Division (future Elkhart Cantral High School) has
not filled with water, sunk out of sight. or floated down the Elkhart
River. Howaver, 40,000 to 50,000 sguare vards of fill dirt wers used on
the site of the new high school.

The $6,745 884 Senior Division building of Elkhart High School
contained 67 classrooms planned to accommodate 1700 students. It also
featured an B00-seat cafeteria and gymnasium, and a 1000-seat suditarium,
The entire building was air-conditioned to the grest relief of those who
had endured summer school in the downtown bullding, Another first was
the installation of a closed-circuit television system that promised to add
an exciting dimension to the school's instructional program. Commenting
on the significance of this new building, Mr, Rice wrote in his news bulletin,
the Green Carpet, that “'no longer will people be rushing out In the dark
o meet seven o'clock classes and regular classes will not run into the
dark at the other end of the day.”

There was soon-an addition to the Semior Division which was
actually part of the original plan but had been omitted at the time of
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eonstruction to reduce the F0st #f the original plant. The new swimming
pool was spproved by the Schodl Board on January 23, 1867, and the

Groan Carpet axplained:

The swimming PoOl addition to Eikhart High
School Senior Division is & completion of the
original m.ﬂﬂ will add to the physical edy-
e availabie fior U%€ by children below high school

#Hﬂhythnf"'i pulblic.

The swimming pool addigi. Which cost $827.684, was resdy for use
in 1969,

The organization of Eikhart High School in its last six years of
oparation deserves explang#©n- 1ne new bullding (now Elkchart Central
High Schooll was called the Sener Division and housed only juniors and
senigrs, The old high schot baplding was reserved for tenth graders and
called the Sophomore Div®on. The two buildings were sbout a mile
apert but were considered 2% part of one large high school complex.
There was a principal for ¢he entire Elkhart High School and assistants
to direct the day-to-day hmlml of each divisign under the leadership
of the principal. However; the two divisions were linked together by
more than administrative of98nisetion — sophomors students were bused
% the Senior Division for Pysical education classes & wers a few other
classes on a special case pgis- Teachers in the seme instructional depart-
ments shared the same cheirman, and many staff members traveled
betwesn the two buildings #° that students arfiving at the Senior Divigion
85 juniors discovered that they alresdy knew some of the faculty.
Sophomores also shared in such activities as the joint Studers Council,
mhuu.mmlu.mmﬂmm""”ﬂthﬂﬂwwnmur
Elkhary High School. This ¢/Musudl plan of organization was undoubitediy
the best choice of aiterng'ives vailable in 1866. If the new and old
buildings had been used fo tw? separate high schools in that year, the
matives of the decision.makers would have been sharply questioned as
the legs affluent and nonwhite Students probably would have sttended
the downtown facility wiile e remainder would be enrolled in the
besutiful new building, TS ltter choice was unacceptable 1o a city
that feit a responsibiliyy 10 Provide good education t all its youth.
Thus the Sﬂﬂmﬁiﬂrﬂr Division plan was weed.
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However, this form o organization was not without its limitations,
Traveling teachers complaned that they lost much time sach day in
making the daily trip beween buildings, Students and administrators
found that teachers with wiom they wished 1o consult were invariably In
the other building and stdents traveling to the other building often
missed their buses. StudentCouncil meetings dealing with all-school busi-
ness were swhkward to arnnge, and members found that the problems
and needs of the two builiings were very different. Sophomores missed
the guidance of upper clasmen in their classes and about the school,
Courses that formerly wer: open 1o all three grade levels now had to ba
limited. And so the problens emerged.

Dbwviously, administeing this umsual organization was a problem
because the structure was onstantly under change in an attempt to make
it better suit the situation. 'n 1966, there was a principal of Elkhart High
School and an assistant priscipal for the Senior Division and an sssistant
principal for the Sophomon Division, In 1967 a vice principal was added
gt the Sophomore Division and in 1968 the asistant bocame a vice
principal at the Senior Diision.

In 1968 and 1970 repectively, an astistant principal and an admini-

strative assistant were adde at the Senior Division, thus completing the

Blx-man team charged to seve the 3,000 member student body. As these
adjustments were made, the individuals in those positions moved about

quite frequently, In the sx years of the two-division organization of

Eikhart High School, elewn different men held various sdministrative
posts in the regular high stool organization, Eventually, the plan called
for the vice principal of the Sophomore Division to be in charge of that
bullding with only pericdicconsultation with the principal who then con-
centrated his major efforts an leading the Senigr Division. Once this plan
evolved, the organization mnaged to run quite smoothiy,

The last sddition to he Elkhart High School program was the con-
struction of the Elkhart Aea Career Center, Its first year of operation
was the last yesr for Elkhet High School, 1971-1872. Technically, this
was not a part of the highschool because |t was built 1o provide voca-
tional education for all higy schools in the sres. However, 300 students
from Elkhart High Schoolwere enrolled at the Career Center for thelr
thifes-fupur vocational cours while the remainder of the day was spent
ofi @ general educational pogram at their own high school.
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TABLE 1. FACILITIES OF ELKHART HIGH SCHOOL: 1888-1972

Mamie of Bullding and Location Date Built  Date Began  Date Cossad
Use by EHS Use by EHS
D Careral Corner of 1668 Sept. 6, 1868 Torn Down
dth Floor Znd and High 10T
Borocdes ick 138127 A eerly = 154
Opars Hoass So. Main 51 1878 for
graduation
“Tha Annex™ Jrd and High, 1684 1884 Tarn Down
High Sehael weemt of Candral 1910
Buckien Dpsra Wi and 1804 1884 for 1924
Housa Harrison graduation
vl plays
Hagh Schoal Léxirgton 1802 1893 1911 Last
1|Samunl Strong) afel W iR ln high school
e, ecETe
Semusl Sirong
E lEmiantary
still s1anding
in 1972
Cantrsl School High and 3rd 1808 Tiskoin cvisr Suill paet of
VST v betr " GogrhosTaOne
last junsar D visian’™
high shsdents 1972 when
sent to EHE ended
Morth Side
Elkchart High High and Ind 19101811 1911 1356 bhecwme
Sehool “Sophoman
B b bsbon'™
1872 schadubed
o b toem doesn
Audiferiuem In tha 18711 1924 1924 1972
wndl Ciyen basildirg
W patianal South side af 1928 1828 197
Buildirg 1977 building
o Franklin S
Trindty 2nd St just aEDy W54 used gym Torn Down
Muthend it wourth gl 1811 TR4E cornpctin 1970
Charch bisilding by Eunnad
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1987 purchased

Mame of Buiding and Location Date Built  Date Began  Date Ceased
Uz by EHS e by EHS
YMCA Sou thesm 1928 1941 rentead 1988
cornaer af pool
Franklin
wnd Jrd
Rice Fiskd IRk Park Aaceied 1823 1973
Orandstand Qct. 20, 1923
for 100
1938
| Grarcistand)
Rice Fisld Houss  Rice Fisld 1928 Sapin, 26, 1926 1972
Rita Seadium Pice Field 1638 18938 1972
far B.DODD
Moerth Side Gym Msin ard Brigtol 1954 1964 18972
Carnegin Library  Morihess 1002 1983 1965
cormer of
Zrel el High
Sanilor Divisian Blazer B, T96E 1 55E 1966 1977 Became
(E M hart Ciaitral Ricé Park E bk hart
High Sehaoll Central
High School
Bwamming Pool Souih of 19638 1289 1972
Sanior Diviskon
Elichart Arag Califoernis Ad. 1M mwmn 1072
Caresr Contor
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CHAPTER TWO: STUDENT ACTIVITIES, CURRICULUM
AND TRADITION AT EHS

School Colors and Team Mames

There are two stories sbout the origin of the colors blue and white
for Elkhart High School. The first s found in a 1924 Elkhart Truth
article. It states that when the first football team was organized in 1884
&t EHS by Edgar Kerstetter, he showed the team a pair of white and red
stockings that he had brought from the Cormavall Academy. It was just
arbitrarily decided to make the EHS colors blue and white, presumably
to be different from Cornwall, and Kerstetter ordered some of these
stockings from his uncle’s knitting mill in Goshen. Because the team had
litthe money 1o pay for such niceties, they could only afford one white
giripe on the blue stockings, The other story is generally the same sxcept
that Hugh Barney is named a5 the Elkhart boy who organized the team
and who had a pair of long blue and white striped stockings that he had
worn while playing football at a military school in Mew York. Acconding
to this story, when the team was asked what their cobors were, Barmay
Iooked down at his stockings and said, “Blue and white, | guess.” Dating
from that time, local papers spoke of the Elkhart colors as blus and white,

Until 1822, EHS teams were called “The Blue and White.”" In that
year, Ed Crutchlow of The Elchart Truth gave the football team the mick-
name of the “Avalanche”” When they had their championship team in
1824, it was dubbed "The Big Blue Avalanche,” but after that time was
referred to s the “Blue Avalanche™ until 1955,

Since the football team carried the "Awalanche™ label, the other
teams needed names, 100. John W. Stahr, sports writer of The Elkhart
Truth, named the baskethall team the “Blazers” and soon the track team
was the “Streaks” while the tennis tearm hed the unlikely name of the
“Blus Racketeers.” After Coach Don Veller came in 18356, the baskatiall
sgquad became the best known of the teams, and EHS athletic teams were
refarred to by out-of-towners & the "Blue Blazers.” n 1956, The Elkchart
Truth named sl teams * The Blazers,” which name has been used ever since.

Football at EHS

Football began at EHS in 1804 The team was organized by some
boys who had no cosch and had to buy their own ball, which was the

5q

first oval football ever used in Elkhart, Players were so scarce that some
werg not students at EHS. They had so little money that they negotisted
with Kendallville to play at Ligonier becauss neither team had enough
money to travel the entire distance. Kendallville won, 26-0. The only
other game EHS could arrange was with Miles, which they lost 188,

The next year, Elkhart played three games and won them all:
defeating Goshen twice, 14-0 and 46-0, and Cubver 8-0. Elichart showed
evidence of being a football powerhouse when in 1812, they posted the
fallowing record

Elkhart 45 Dowragiac 1]
Elkhart 116 Winona College (1]
Elghart 107 Interlaken School 0
Elkhart Bd Gosihan &
Elkhart &H Warsaw 3
Elkhart 1 LaGrange 0
Elkhart 1] South Bend 0

It is imteresting to note that st this early date, Elkhart was sccustomed
1o traveling some distance 1o find teams to play. Also, the reader may be
curious to know how a team can score only one point. This was the con-
vention used to indicate a forfeiture, the winner recaiving one point and
the team that failed to appear for the game or who otherwie violated
some basic requirement receiving no score. This procedure became quite
important to Elkhart in the 1938 football season when they posted the
foliowing recond:

Elkhart 32 Fi. Wayna 12
Elkhart 30 Baoeren 1]
Elkchart 30 LaPorte T
Elkhart 13 Rilay 12
Elkhart 18 Mishawaka (1]
Elkhart 34 Aenssalaer 12
Elkhart 38 Gioahian i
Elkhart 33 Michigan City 7
Elkhart 20 5. B. Cantral 1]
Emarsan 12 Elkhart B

This last heartbreaking bos prevented Elkhart from having a perfect ssason.
Then fortune intervened. Br. Spalding, the Principal of Emerson, dis-
covered that one of the players they hed used had passed his twentheth
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| birthday and he dutifully reported the fact. The game was forfeited 1o
Elkhart with an officisl geore of 1.0 and Elkhart then became thé
Morthern Indiana Conference Champion for the first time in history.

m One of the greatest iiumphs for Elkhact football came when Coadh
- Chelses Boone's Big Blug Avslanche became Indiana Sgate Champions
~ in 1924, Thie scoring was Ghenomenal as can bé &880 from this score sheat:
Elhart 2 Miles 0
1 Elkhart T4 Kendallwille i}
| EMkhart ] War s (i}
| | Elk hart 54 Howe 1]
I Elchart 47 Michigan City 1]
Elkhart 57 Gashen 1]
Elkchart 54 Ft. Wayne i}
i | Elkhart 24 Mishawaka 7
Elkhart 28 Bicknell [
i It was this 1924 swate chympionship team that inspired the construction

of the Rice Field Hous® referred to in the first chapter.

The next year, Elkhgey continued to have 8 powerfyl team, shutting

_ out five opponents and winning eight games, mastly by lopsided scores.

) A Howeever, the next-to-1ast yame with Mishawaka brought 8 curious reversal.

"..!- The 1926 Pennant Annual described it this way: “During the second haif,

. L R Elkhart played a reck|ess game of football, throwing passes and playing an

| offensive game. The kst yuarter finally became & riot.” The game encied
with the score: Mishawaky 54 Elchart 0

L
—
F P

Elkhart High Sehoy hed other seccessful football ssasons. Under
Coach Tom Kurth, the [958 and 1970 Blue Blazers had perfect 10-0
records and were ratéd ligst in the states The 1970 tsam scored 273
points, gave up only 3.8 points per gama, and Six out gf their ten op-

100u0g ybiH Buong ENWeS aul J0 1001 Ul BUISD WD) |[PGI00] SHT Z06L

[ ponents were rated in thy top ten sometime during the season.
! However, things weg not ahways so good for Elkhgrt football, The
! outstanding seascns are fyr more enjoyable when compared with seasons
| such as 1955, when Elkhirs High School lost eight, tied nwo and did not
win a game.
56 _ 57
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Basketball at EHS

The first basketball game was played in the halls of Central School
in 1908, It is interesting 1o examina basketball scores in the early part of
the century because they reveal a steady trend of improved offense as
the years passed. EHS basketball In 1812-1813 had such low-appearing
scores a8 EHS 8, Mishawaka 15; EHS 16, Goshen 11; EHS 28, Warsaw 10;
and EHS 19, Mishawaka 28. In the 1921-1922 season, Elkhart won the
South Bend Tournament by defeating Mappanes 14 to 12 in an overtime.
Other scores for the sesson were of the 21 o 13, and 14 to 8 variety,
but i one game, EHS defeated Constantine 99 to 81

1824 was the year of the state championship foothall team. Coach
Boone went on 1o coach the basketball team as well. During the 1924
1926 season, his tearm had a mediocra 8-7 record. Howeser, he was very
successiul in the tournament, winning the Sectional (EHS 35 — Goshen 19),
the Regional (EHS 30 — Auburn 18), and playing in the 5tate Tournament,
losing the first game to Evansville, 20-14.

Elkhart has often had state-wide rating in basketball. In 1830,
Elkhart won its first game in the State Tournament by defeating Marion
26 to 2. In 1945-1846, EHS was rated Number 1 in the state for a while;
however, they entered the townament as Mumber 2 and were defeated
in the Aegional. In 1951, they adwanced to the final sight, but lost the
naxt game to Lafayette Jefferson 55 to 50. In 1952, they got to the semi-
state finals again only 1o be defested by Lafayette Jefferson. In 1954,
under Coach Bill Milliner, EHS won the Sectional, Regional, and Semi-
State Tournaments with such stars as Ray Ball, Erich Barmes, Dick
Johrson, Jim Eger, and Mike Yoder. They were smentually defeated n
the first game of State Finals by Muncie Central. In 1956, EHS won the
Sectional, Regional, and Semi-State Finals, but lost the first game of the
Ciate Finals to old tournament rival, Lafayette Jafferson.

The greatest achiewement for Elkhart High School basketball cama
im 1871, when EHS under Coach Keith Dougherty advenced to the final
game of the state wournament for the first time in its history. Elkhart lost
to a tall and powerful East Chicago Washington team, 70-80, and snded
tive season as the official Number 2 team in the state.
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Otther Athletics st EHS
——

EHS installed other sports as demand and facilities permitied. Base-
ball was storted in 1920; track, cross country, and tennis in 1922; wrestling
in 1929 snd then again in 1955; golf in 1938 and again in 1956; and
swimming and gymnastics in 1964,

The first official state champlonship won by EHS was that of the
1968 wrestling team coached by Rolle Hoover. The team lost only one
meet all season and after the regional tournament, five EHS wrestlers
gualified for the state contest. Larry Coléman placed fourth in his weight
division; Jim Nieglson and Randy Kreider won third places; and Doug
Stall in e 95-pound class and Gary Kratzer in the 133-pound class won
first places. These performances scored enough points to give EHS the
championthip. As an additional distinction for the 1968 Indiana State
Wrestling Champions, a member of the team, Marshall McCollough, be-
camag the only EHS athlete to be on three state championship teams: the
1968 mythical state football champions, the 1968 Indiana State Wrestling
Champigns and the 1968 Indiana State Track Champions.

It was considered unusual snd daring when Elkhart High School
hired Mrs. Karleen J. Bartlett to coach the boys' tennis team in 1967;
howeqyer, records show that Elkhart High School had a Miss Catherine
Wolf (1931-35) who came to coach the boys' tennis weam. In her first
viar of coaching, the team won all of its matches and in 1934 her team
was conference champion.

Eichart High School has always been gutstanding in track. In 1969,
the Blarers had an undefeated season and won the official State Champion-
ship. This effort o inspired Coach Jim Eger's team that they turned
araund and won the State Title again in 1670. By 1871, Coach Eger had
a9 unbroken winning streak in dual meets dating back to 1967, Overall,
sincs 1951, the Track Team had & 148-13 record in dual meets. This out-
standing achievemant in track is attributed to the skilled leadership of
Coach Matt Ronzone [1950-1966) and his successor, Jim Eger (1867-
1872,

Cheerlegolers
ap one time in EHS history, the cheerleaders were all boys, who

ingpired Spirit by loud shouting and gymnastics. The "“Yell Lesders,” as
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they were called, were coached by Mr. Dean Smith, who added the first
girl cheerleaders in 1944-1945, when there were three girls and four boys
In 1945-1946, the ratio shifted to four girl cheerleaders and three boys
In 1946, when Miss Mary Kendall carme to coach the cheerleaders, the
trend toward girls was established and boys became harder to recrult, in
1846-1847, there wore thres girls and thres boys, and the girls wora skirts
for the first time. Apparently the skirts made the difference. The next
year, the cheerleaders were all girls except for one male holdout. Sincs
that time, cheerleading has become a highly competitive female function
at EHS. Misz Kendall sald that the tried recruiting boys, but they had lost
imterest in it,

Chieerbbistk

In 1954, Miss Kendall and Mrs. Alice Fox founded the girls’ cheer-
block. There were 150 girls who wore white blouses and dark skirts. The
raxt year, they got special jerseys with white on one side and blue on the
other. Mis Kendall coached the girls in cheers and formations, and Mrs
Fox arranged detailt such a5 seating the senior girls in front and keeping
them in the formation during half-time. These girls provided the heart of
the chewring section during basketball games.

Schoo| Mascot — “Mr, B

The school mascot is “Mr. B, a fearsome creature with 3 red
bultous heed, corkscrew nose, and pudgy body riding on a bolt of
lightning. As it turns out, “Mr. B was never officially sdopted by the
school or Student Council, sccording to former principal. Mr. Glenn
Updike. However, he got his start in 1955 when the sucosssful basketball
tearm went to the State Tournament and discovered that the other teams
had mascots. There is some confusion as to the penesis of this symibal,
Scoording to Miss Alice McKeshan, the cheerleaders, who were alis on
the Student Council, raised the guestion of a mascot, and Mr. Heawarnd
James, the art teacher, was asked to originate a design. However, Mr
Robert Ehream recalled that ome of Mr, James’ art classes worked on the
question, while Mr., Updike remembered that the students in Mr. James’
art classes askpd him to sketch & mascot. One weekend he made a sketch,
brought it to school and left it on his desk without comment. The students
picked it up and thus it came into use. Mr. Galen Wengar remembered that
there was considerable discussion about what a “blazer” was and how it
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Fig. 28 Student Jerry Wright as “Mr. B” in 1970
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could e pictured. Some talked about a sport cost and others talked
alsout & ball of fire. Mr. Dale Bolton, & hocal graduate who later taught at
EHS during the last twelie years of Its existence, stated that Mr. Jlames
told him the story that he did not take things like school mascots very
sariously and when students asked him to design ome, he whimsically
created the most hideous thing he could imagine. Much to his surprise,
the chewlsaders adopted the image and it has been in wse ever since. At
first, “Mr. B" was just 8 wooden cutout image, but in 1966, an actual
“Wr. B” halmet and suit was made so that a student could wear it and
cavort at athletic events,

School Fight Song and School Hymn

In 1807 or 18908, two music teachers and a member of the senior
class, Raymond Conley, adapted words to the music of “Go, Go, North-
wastern.”” The words of "“Fight On, O Elkhart™ are as follows:

Fight on, Old Elkhart,

Fight for wictory

With your cobors flying,

We willl cheer you all the time.
Rah! Rah! Rah!

Fight an, Ok Elkhart,

Fight for wietory

Spread forth the fame

Of our falr namea,

Come on, Elkhart, win this gamel

(whistie) Go, Elkhart, Gaol

(whistle] Go, Elkhart, Gol

Hit ‘em high,

Hit ‘am o,

Go, Elkhart, Go!

in 1945, Principal C. P. Woodruff determined that the fight song
was nol appropriste for all occasions and directed that Mis Dorothy
Kally, an Emglish tascher who had 8 creative writing class, wrge students
to write words for a school hymn. The winming hyrics were written by
Geralding Shank, class of 1845, Music for the song was written by Alice
Ahaoads, with the help of music instructor, Mr. Howard Kilbert, The song
was formally presented to and adopted by the student body in March
1845, The words of "To Elkhart High™ are as follows:
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Oh, Elkhart High, we will be true
Forewer 1o your white and blwe;

And in our memories will remain

The hope of coming back again

To wander through familiar halls:
Remambering what the heart recalls,
Rememb'ring games we watched or played,
And happiness in friendships mada.

The many lessons that we've learned,
The teachers for whose help we turned
These are the things we shan't forget;
They signify a sk well met.

Qur school day memaories hold, in truth,
The joy that is the flame of youth,
Dear Elkhart High, we pladge 1o thes
Qur faith, our hope, our loyalty.

Music Activities at Elkhart HE'I_ School

The first school band was organized in 1822, and in that same year,
the orchesira was lsunched with five violins, one cornet, one trumpet,
one clarinet, one bass drum, one French horn, two trombones, one alto
sax, and one tenor sax. How they arranged music for such a conglomer-
ation of instruments is not preserved. In 1924-1826, the band under Mr.
J, C, Cheney purchased its first uniforms, There were 57 band members
who troveled 1o the Ft. Wayne and Niles football games and, according to
the 1925 Pennant Annual, “created quite a sensavion.” Instrumental
music became 0 sophisticated that by 1827-28, the band included an
cboe and a bassoon.

About that time the EHS Band and Orchestra began to develop a
national reputation for outstanding music performances. In 1833, the
EHS Orchestra won the State Band and Orchestra contest &t LaPorte,
Indiana, and under the direction of Mr. David Hughes, went to the
Mational contest at Elmburst, Illinois. In 1937 the EHS Orchestra won the
First Division in the MNational Contest at Columbas, Ohio. In 1838, the
EHS Band went to Detroit to play before the last general session of the
Music Educators’ Mational Conference. Although there are no longer
national contests, EHS contineed to display excellence in music. In
189571958, EHS students at the State Solo and Ensemble Contest at
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Indianapolis won 158 gold medals for first places. Not only did this break
the record for EHS, but it broke the former state record of 128 first
place medals for students at one school, In the late 1940% the music
program began to decline. When Mr. Fred Miiller took over in 1947, he
inherited an old system which was difficult 1o change. After estabilishing
some important improvements in the fesder svatem, he resigned in 1851
and Mr. Robert Ralston filled in for the rest of the year. Mr. Ralston
recalled that in 1951, the band got new uniforms to replace those pur-
chased before World War |1, Unfortunately, the uniforms arrived late, so
the band wore overalls and straw hats at the first football game show.
Then John Davies took over the instrumental music program in 1952 and
was able to bring about tremendous growth. The result has been an out-
standing music program since that time. When Mr. Ralston, who returned
to Elkhart in 1965, was asked to compare Elkhart's reputation for music
with other schools, he responded that the best indication that could be
given wad the selection of Elkhart as the only community of its size to
have & Ford Foundation “"Composers-in-Residence™ Project composer for
three years. In 1958-1980 the composer was Robert Washburn: in 1960
1961, Dr. William Thompson; and in 1961-1962, Lewis Williams. When
asked what enabled Elkhart to win this distinction, Mr, Balston explained
that there has been an unusual balance between band, grchestra and chair
in the school system. He stressed that all aspects of music education have
been ermnphasized rather than just one or just the flashiest part, snd that
the School Board has supported the faculty so that good instructors have
stayed for many years building the program. He also noted that Elkhart
has had an unusual number of excallent private music teachers and that
the community has & symphony orchestra and a municipal band, all of
which provide a good climate to encoursge music,

"By
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Sehoal Publications

Miss Dorothy Kelly, who was sssociated with EHS publications for
Mmany years, retiring in 1966, wrote the following about these activities:

Tha first school publication, so far as anyone
knows, was The Ideal, 3 monthly magazine pub-
lished in 1901. lssuss appesred regularly wntil
1906 or 1907 when the name Cynosure was used,
We do not know who gave the publication the
name Pennant but it was first used in 1908, and
has been published regularly undér that name,
since that date.
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The Pennant was a monthly magazine (with
& special senior isswe] until 1920 when the first
Penmant Annual was published, On that date the
two publications were established: a emall 4-page
weekly and & yearbook. The Weekly was printed
in the printshop; therefore the size was small
(6 x B) to fit the press. In 1929 the slze of the
Weekly was changed to & S-column paper about
11 x 15 inches, and it has been kept at this size
since that date,

Yearbooks were also standardized in the
9 x 12 size, and have been published at the end of
each school year, incressing in size and quality
falss in cost),

in 1831, the school began the publication of
& literary magazine, hrought out under the sponsor-
ship of the English Department, and given the
name The Threshald. At first, issues wers published
only ance a year, but in 1040, the staffs bagan
the publication of one isue in December and one
in May. However, with no adwertising, and with
rising costs of paper and printing, the magazine
suspended publication in 1948,

In 1963 a literary magazing was begun under
the sponsorship of the English Department. Sinca
that date, it has incresssd in size and quality as it
appesrs each May. Poems, essays, stories are sub-
miltted veluntarily and selections are made by a

The remalndar of this chapter includes miscallansous |
about Elkhart High School. It is hoped that the reader will find it
interest even though they may have nothing in commaon other than
about Elkhart High School .

Mid- ear Graduation

For & considerable time in EHS history, there were two grad
classes aach yéar. This technicality makes the tithe of this book
insccurets. The Graduate Book: 1873-1860 does not consistently list

L1

separate January and June graduating classes, but it does begin showing
separate January and June classes in school vear 1900-1901, when 13
graduated in January 1901 and 36 graduated in June 1901. The Pennant
Annual indicates periodically that mid-year graduations took place con-
sistantly. Graduates recalled, however, that no spargte graduation cere
monies @k place in January. The last semiannual promotion took
place in 1947, Dr. Church, the Superintendent, was responsible for the

Caps and Gowns for Graduation

In 1830, the custom of wearing caps and gowns was first introduced
at EHS. It was done as a sensible and sconomical raplacernent for the
“costly garb of previous vears” Apparently, students had become maore
extravagant in selecting clothing for the commencement cerermonias, and
mnlmmlhitmublnﬁnntnprmmmdmuuhumuﬂm
affard to spend much maney on clothing.

EHS in Workd War 1)

Thifiﬂﬂidminﬂ-w.ﬁ.mnqumﬂmtmﬂ
events outside of school came in the Second World War, The 1942 Pennant
mmlﬂmnfmmEHErMmhklhdinmmr.ﬂum—tup
mmmmmhhmmm“ﬂ-%m
mittee, the Incendiary Committee, the Evacustion Committes, and the
First Aid Committes. Students knitted for the Alligs, bought defense
mnmf-nrhmhmmdﬂmumwuudmhﬂl
Ww.vnﬂﬂmddmmmmsmmnmﬁwnmmh
struct employees in local industries, especially for defense work. The
mﬁaPmnmtAnmldﬂtri:uﬂu-ﬂdhiunﬂmﬂumdbhmiﬂ
rﬂdimhﬂnﬁumhﬂmmﬁww'm_
mwuwmm-ur.mnmmlumnhhﬂn
ﬂlmhﬂningmminﬂulmmuftﬂwlmmhrm.
-"ﬂﬂhlhrhmwﬂtwtudmhmmrﬂFmﬂilﬂHhhﬂm
for improving military fitness. Apparently, the wer hsd considerable
impact on the students and the faculty.

RT
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Exchangs Students

EHS was one of the first public high schools in the United States to
hnm?mmmﬂuﬁmnuﬂwmmﬂumtnlmmmmm
Elkhart students. The EHS Student Council worked with the American
FwwmmmmummumEmmhm
was raised by students and other community organizations. This program
began in 1949 and has been carried on sver since. Ususally, two foreign
students were brought to Elkchart where they lived in the homes of EHS
students and shared in the activities of their “Brothers” and “sisters,”

Black Students at EHS

Black students were nat common In Elkchart schools at the beginning
of the Twentieth Century. Deal's History of Elkhart County Indicates that
the 1905 spring census listed 1819 male students and TBEG famale stu-
dents, including “6 colored females and 1 colored male” enrolied in the
Elkhart Mh%‘%mhmﬂv%ﬂmhhﬂumm."
Apparently the first black graduste of EHS was Aletha Hoosier, wha

Quietly modest of wisdom full [sic]. Aletha is
another quiet member but nevertheless, by her
prosence and hard work she has helped the class
o be not only high in number but high in stan-
dard. 5he s also somewhat of a whiz at shorthand
and typewriting and reslly admits she likes it.
Sl'nhmh-tlhuinmhwhmﬂw
@=t everything she wishes for becsuse she can
work and work hard and steadily.

Thnm:ﬂmhuhhd:rﬂm-wﬂu:h-mmﬂlf
ﬂtltih'ufwrd.EHSrmhﬂluﬂanmngmrnh.m
Thlﬁ:ﬂhhd:ﬂdmmnﬂnh-dhldmﬂﬂﬂ-wuﬂuuﬁ
of the class of 1932 who was in Girl Reserves, the Glee Club, in
-ﬂﬂuFmﬂuh.TlpﬁmhhﬂiwmwthﬂIHmﬁ-
1834. “Barney sang in the Glee Club, had & part in the ‘Minstret’ in
and won honors for EHS as 8 member of the mile relay team in
Barney was also very well Nied by all his classmates,” Emory Davis
the first black officeholder and wis in the same class with Barney Ph
Acoording to the yearbook, Emary Davls

. . . was very well liked by all the class members,
He wat & brilliant scholar and was very active in
the band, playing & clarinet for four years. He was
also a member of the Woodwind Quintet. Emory
was secretary of the Fremch Club in his senior
year and took part in the French play.

youngast graduate in the history of Elichart High School was a
hmhmmmm‘mm*mm Lecnard W.
Johnson, Jr. went 1o Howard University Medical School on a scholarship
ipan from the Kiwanis Club in Elkhart. At the time of this writing, Colonel
Johnson is the Commander of the Bth Asromedical Evacuation Group in
the U. 5. Air Foroe.

ﬁmﬂmwuﬂmhthﬂﬂ}ﬂl
schools offered black students the best opportunities “of any place.” The
result has been several outstanding graduates such as Charles Gordone,
Pulitzer prize-winning playwright, and Tom Atking, who was President of
the Student Council in 1957, President of the student body at Indiana
iniversity, and who has gone on to a rapidly rising political career in the
state of Massachusetts, EHS also gradusted Erich Barnes, who in high
school was an All-State halfback in 1963 and who weni on to attain a very
successiul career in professional football,

15449
Black students joined together in their common interest from

1o 1852, The snnuals for those years show a Booker T. Washington Club
which was a ¥-Teen group that put on plays, parthes, style shows and dances,

white
Race relations have not always been easy for black as well as

students at EHS. In May 1971, interracial violence causing some injuries
to students and teachers in both the Sophomore and Senbor Divislons
closed the school for four-and-a-half days to let anger cool. When school
mmmmmwhhﬁhuﬂng
prevent new disonders. .

MASH Walk

Students in the latter days of EHS were also capable of very con-
Fiructive activity. On May B, 1!1'1,“!,“9-#!.!““
students, participated in a demonstration called “March Against Starvation
of Humanity.” To accomplish their goal, students scquired “sponsors™
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ﬂhu_nrmhld lo pay five or ten cents for each mile a person would march.
A thirty-mile course was Laid out that wound its way throughout Elkhart,
and by day's énd, some 35 000 miles were recorded, the marchers raising
over $20,000.

The Conant Regport

ﬂmnfthimhﬂhunﬂlldﬂnmumhuﬂmhimnhnuh{n
mwuwummm“nm,mmuw
wmle.wm.wmmmm;nnm“mﬁmiﬁ.
is former i of Harvard University traveled throughout the
Urﬂud‘&ntumdlnlﬂ:ﬁﬂmmvhlﬂiﬂmhﬂi“mﬂml-ﬁ
MhEIﬂiﬂHM&hﬂdﬂtﬂdHl-Hthmm
timrnEHsummwhdnuh-HaummmEHEhﬂqqu
mmmmmmmmmwwm
plained a8 fallows:

The curriculum of the school provides an education

years been greatly lessened, and now the Cormmer-
cial and Industrial Courses are of almost equal

about Elkhart High School, listed as “School J7 in the report. Mr. B
recalled that Dr. Conant told him that lenguage instruction at EHS
mwm“mmmmmm
$0 that we could lopk &t them, Dv. Conant replied, “MNone — they're
ln-wl"ﬂnﬂu-tm“-wmvm&ujﬁﬂ
mhlmnEH&m:Hdmdum“m
ﬂum-wﬂnﬂiﬂmwmhmlﬂ
experience, and the small number of academically talented
enrolled in foreign language. He complimented the guidance and
Elkhart High School, according to the Conant Report, was not the
the United States, but it was a good one. Since the time of the
Erlﬂn:irwwnd mary curriculum changes that were influ
L] .

Ausdic-Visual Equipment at EHS

The 1930 Pennant Annual has & picture of 16 boys and a teacher
veith the following ecplanation:

The Visual Education Club was organized for the

purpose of operating the projection machine for

the films thai are shown at EH.5 Mo regular

mestings are held, but the boys of the club are

called together for impromptu meetings, at which

time Mr. Likens explains the principles of the
i hi

One mast repeat “the projection machine.” In contrast 1o that time, Mr,
Rex Gleim, Materials Coordinator at EHS in 1871-1872, reported that
the high school presently had;

14 16 m.m. projpeciors
4 cargusel projectors
18 filmsiTip projectors
OPAqUE Projecton

owarhesd projectons
& m.m. projectors

film loop projectors

Statistics like thesa bring sharply into focus the tremendous change in
complexity and expense that hes come about in educational technology.

HHEH

Parent-Tascher Astodiation

The 1936 Pennant Annual claims that the PTA wes organized on
September 27, 1934, a5 hair of the 3000 Club which had been organized
o raise funds to send the band and orchestra to state and nathonal con-
tests, As their first obligation, they decided to take responsibility for the
Purchase of a harp, At the sscond mesting on Octobaer 12, 1934, Mr. Ross
Martin was elected President; Mrs. Richard Twichell, First Vice President;
Mr. R. A. Sproull, Second Vice President; Mrs. Lester Inebnit, Secretary;
and Mr. Benjamin Ebersole, Treasurer. In spite of this 1935 claim, the'
author found a 1918 reference in The Elkhart Truth's “"New Home Souvenir™
for pupils and teachers of the high school and Central School. While the
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record & not clear, perhaps this PTA served only the Tth and 8th grades at
Central School, and thus the high school may not have had a PTA of its
own befors 1934,

Class Schedules

A “normal” class schedule provides for six periods in each day.
Elhart High School has experimented with mafy patternd, same of which
were made necessary by over-crowding. The Permanent Program of Jan-
uary, 1923, showed sn eight-period school day Deginning at 8:30 a.m.
and lasting until 11:25 aum. with students then being releassd for lunch.
From 1:00 to 1:35 p.m., teachers were scheduled for a “consuliation
pariod.” Then clases resumed at 1:40 and lasted until 3:50 p.m. Tha
1830 school day began at B:15 a.m. and ended at 3:20 p.m. with only a
fiwe-period day plus a study period in first period classrooms from 12:30
unitil 1:10 pum. In 1839, school began at B:00 a.m. snd ended at 3:58 p.m.
wiith sewen periods. During World War |1, Mr. Rex Harvey recalled, the
school was on 8 seven-pariod day; however, he hed 8 physical education
class at the YMCA for an eighth period from 3:30 to 4:30 p.m. Mr. Rogers
recalied that when he came in 1880, the school dey operated from 8:00
am. w 3:20 pomn., Including a half-hour homeroom perlod. During the
1048- 1850 school year, regular classes began at 8:10 a.m. However, three
shop classes were llsed on the schedule beginning at 7:00 a.m. Mr. Rice
moted that in the mid-1960's it was necessary 1o add a seventh period in
order to provide enough opportunities to use the science laboratory
facilities. In 1960 or 1967, & 7:00 a.m. class was added on & voluntser
basis and later was incorporated as a regular part of the schedule. By the
kst year for the entire school in the downtown building in 1965-1966,
the normal schedule had eight regular periods starting at 7:00 a.m. and
lesting until 4:16 p.m, In its last year of operation (1971-1972) Elkhart
High School has had classes from B:00 am. to 2:55 p.m. with
Sophomaore Division dismissing at 3:00 p.m, because of the bus

Senior Day

“Sanbor Day™ was one of the waditions of EHS that endured over
long period of time. This was the last regulsr day for sendors in school
on that occaslon they put on a progremm for the entire student body,
dressed In their best clothes, and generally impressed sveryone with

maturity and wisdom. Mrs. Fox recalled that the Class of 1961 performed
“Oklahoma’™ and the Class of 1962 produced “Bye, Bye Birdie™ as their
final act. M.Huﬂrﬂﬂﬂmﬁmhhumm
too large for thess activities and since seniors no konger responded 1o such
sentimental observances, 1962 would be the last year for “Senior Day.”

Open School-Clotsd School

Until 1966, Elkchart High School students not sssigned to class
pther obligathons were free 1o hiﬂnmﬂ.ﬂnnﬂvﬂﬁmﬂ:
students went home or somewhers else for lunch becauss maost of them
had & full schedule to meet during the rernainder of the school day. How-
ﬂ,-hdwhm-mmmnm-m
many students found themselves with free hours during the day that per-
mitted them hhnﬂ-m.m-pmﬂmm
mhm-ruMImhhmﬂhm
mwmmmwnwmmm-

a1mmmhm&mhnm.mm-mw
the School Board to have a “closad-school day.” This meant that all
mmmmmmuhmﬂﬂﬂumm
leave, All students with non-class scheduled periods were sssigned 1o 8
Mvhl.ﬁmﬁlﬂﬂmmmmwtﬂm
study halls and that students were quite displeased with their “imprison-
ment." Ahmﬁﬂr,ﬂﬂﬂnmhhﬁ‘lﬂ
1971 wmmmmmmm.'mmmumn
cﬂmhﬂ:udﬂmﬂ-ﬂp-mﬂ-.hwﬂ-mu
the lunch period remained
Hwiuhﬁﬂuu-‘.m unlutlul-tﬂrnlElﬂ-t_

School F Prablem

_ Elkhart High School had a fraternity and sorority problem at one
fime that Mr. Rice characterized as being as disruptive to the school s the
r-l:hrwdmnfu.mmfm.mmﬂhﬁ-w
m""“"‘""“ﬁﬂ-'ﬂmw [soon changed to “Fifty™] and the

Rah Girts for the young ladies of the time. Thess pap organizstions
VTR Created WM““”MNH.HH.HVH
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the leading students of the school. After the Second World War, the
schaol lost control of these jacket clubs and they had secret mestings to
elect and initiate their own members. Membership in these groups was of
utmost importance to many EHS students, and several girls reportedly
cried themsahves to sleep if not invited to join the Rah Rah Girls. The
beys wore jackets proclaiming their membership, and the prestige of both
groups gawe them wirtual control of school sctivities for almost & decade.
Initigtion requirements included such behavior as getting oneself thrown
out of a clas, as well as incidents of violence which ultimately led 1o the
death of one boy. Efforts by Dr. Church in the late 19407 to control the
jacket clubs were resisted by parents who liked the prestige the clubs
brought to their own children. However, Mr, Rice, Coasch Janzaruk and
Band Director Davies finally stopped the clubs by refusing to allow any
miemiber to participate in any school sctivity, and studenis were forbidden
to wear jackets or other identifying insignia to school. The Rah Rah Girls
were stopped when a group of leading junicr girls refused to have anything
1o do with the club for two succeeding years and the club lost its prestige.
By 1954, the clubs wers defunct.

Night School

Elkhart High School's extensive night school program began in 1817,
The free evening school enroliment incresssd from bess than 100 in the
first year to more than 300 in 1918. The official 1970-1871 report on
night school at EHS revealed that night school had 17 teachers and 15
different courses. Thers were 560 students enrolled in the first semester
and 511 in the second. As a result, 52 students received diplomas after
completing night school courses that year.

in East Chicago and LaPorte, Indiana in 1940, Elchart’s program, wh
was installed in 1946, was cited in full in Stinett and Haskew's book
the best example. The program, which gives high school ssniors
experience with the teaching process, helps students decide about
teaching as & career. The Indiana State Teachers Association bulletin
exploratory teaching names Anna McAllisier and Florence Jones
founders of the “model” exploratory teaching program in Elk

[

CHAPTER THREE: PEOPLE AND ELKHART HIGH SCHOOL

The most important consideration concerning an institution like
Elkhart High School is that it involves people: students, faculty, and
sdministrators. Unfortunately, any attempt to discuss those who shaped
Elkhart High School — or who were shaped by it — ks doomed to failure
pecause it will be, at best, incomplete and quite likely inaccurate in some
respects. Nonetheless, the suthor will attempt to mention some indi-
viduals who have come to his sttention.

Principals of Elkhart High School

Table 2 lists all the principals of Elkhart High School in chrano-
logical order. This work will commant an four of them whose tenure was

vither long or espacially interesting.

Zenas B. Leonard was principal of EHS from 1890 two 1892, A
1925 Truth article reports that in 1891, there were bitter objections
about him _hmmm'ﬂwmﬂu#ﬁm
mathods were 100 harsh. The school board conducted & hearing at which
paid attorneys of the complainants made caustic remarks about Principal
Leanard, Mr. Leonard was defended by a minister who had no children in
shool but who voluntesred his support because “he abways was inclined
10 take the part of the under dog.” The minister presented a “virile™
defense against the charges of two attorneys and one irste parent, and
the board found in favor of Mr, Leonard. However, the school board did
mhﬂu&.L—uﬂhﬂhm_mﬂwhﬁMl—m
or not, he had lost too much prestige to continue.

The other three to be mentioned have been selected, naot for
notoriety, but because their long tenure in the position as principal of
Eikhart High School mesns that they touched the greatest number of
lives and probably did the mast to make Elkhart High School what it was,

5. B. McCracken was principal of EHS from 1892 to 1919, In these
Twenty-seven years, he opened two high schooks: the High School in 1882
that was later narmed Samusl Strang when it bacame an '
and the High School on High Street opened in 1911, This feat is about to
be duplicated by Mr. Palmer Mart, who opaned the Senior Division in
1968 and is scheduled to open Elkhart Memorial High School in 1972,
We have aiready seen in Chapter One that Mr. MeCracken was also a



TABLE 2. PRINCIPALS OF ELKHART HIGH SCHOOL

Diate Name Titla

18681870  Miss Madlie Smith Frincipal
18701872  Miss Mary E. Gordon  Principal
18721873 Miss Serwr H. Hosdly Princips]
TE73-1E7S  idiss Lydis A Dimon  Principsl
1BTE-18TT  Mis Sersh D, Harman  Principal
TBT7-1680 Charles M, Van Clave Primcipal
TR0 1881  George W. Ber Principal
1881-1882 A, G, Hall Principal
1882 Lsgnard Conant Principal
18821883 Theodors H, Johason PFrincipal
TE3-1884  Horace PhiNipa Principal
TE84- 1890 Horace Phillips Principsl
1ES0-1B82 Zenes B. Leonam Prancipsl
T892-1811 &, 8. McCracken Principal
[Firwt $ull-tirmad
Frincipal

19111818 &, 5. MoCracken

19181820 8. W. Kally Principal
TS30- 1944 John W, Holdeman PFrincipal
18449963  C, P, Woodruff Principal
18441548 Duwr B, Smith Amigtant Prioeiped
TR4E-1861 Dowls T. Franch Amivtant Principal
TES1-1863  Gilenn Updike Amistant Prirecipal

THE3- 1888 Glenn Updike Principal
1963186 Lewiis I suffmann Bpigtant Frincipal
1968-10687  Palener Mart Frincipal

TRET- 1068  Palmer ket Principal
Floyd Longenbaugh  Vics Principal
L s i B gy fofrm mnee

1968-1068  Palmar Mart

Dipnakd Winre AT T
E ugane Hurgata Ao inisr ative Asisten
lmcting Asst. Principal]

TSS90 Floyd Longenbsagh

!Hillnﬂlh‘ Wicw Principal
ugiil Hungabe Agigtant Principal
Donald Winne & mirtant Principsl i '-E'-"':
1970-1972  Dr. Richard Willon  Principsl e T
E Vica D iy = Bt
mml*ﬂl— vuw Eeniar B Fig.30 S.B. McCracken, Principal 1892.1919
Al Bl Amivtant Principal Sanior Diviaian
Dol Winre Asiitpnt Principal Sophomore O
Joseph Sehie Agdmimistrative Assisem

Elkhart Community Schools



science teacher and was no doubt responsible for the high school having
the |atest in modern eguipment for science instruction. Mr. MeCracken
was also noted for being the first full-time principal and was remembered
&% being & strict disciplinarian. Mr. Doyle French related & story that was
gtill in circulation about Mr. McCracken when French camie to the faculty.
Mr. McCracken frequenily stationed himself at the staireay near room
301 to prevent students from running to class, One day after the bell rang,
& yourng lady was rushing up the stairs and Mr, MzCracken sternly ordened
the “girl” to go back down the stairs and walk up properly. Mr. McCracken
later learmed that the “girl” in question was one of the new teachers that
he had failed to recognize in his quest for justice. After leaving the
principalship, Mr. McCracken served as head of the schence department
for several years before his retirement. Mr, McCracken is buried in Grace
Lawn Cemetery on Middlsbury Stroeet. His epitaph was cited in Ripley’'s
Believe It or Mot It said:

Zehool s Out.

Teacher Has Gone Homae,
5. B. McCracken
1857-1933

John W. Holdeman was principal of Elkhart High School from 1919
until 1944, During his twenty-five years in this pesition he was well
respected. The 1039 Pennant Annual was dedicated to him and made this
statement:

Jahin W. Holdeman has been a capable principal of
Elkhart High for the past ninetesn years. During
thiz time, he has been responsible for many out-
standing events which have brought fame and for-
tuné to the high school and city. & good principal
iz essentlal to a smooth, well-organized high sehool,
and for many years Mr, Holdernan has filled that
position satisfactorily.

Mrs. Fox remambsered that Mr. Holdeman was constantly going about the

school to kesp an eye on things and that the students called him “Poppa
Jahn,™

. P. Woodrutf was principal of Elkhart High School from 1944 1o
1963, He began at EHS as an industrial arts teacher in 1931-1932. Mr.
Franch recalled that he first started administrative work when a full

78

79
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schadule of slectricity clases failed to develop. Mr. Woodruff held warious
titles as collateral duties to his teaching assignment, such as “Boys’
Courselor,” “Senior Counsslor,” and “Senior Counselor and Assistant to
the Principal,” Meanwhile, he continued his assignment in the Vocational
Department, teaching electricity and blueprint reading. From 1947 to
1844, Mr, Woodruff left Elkhart and served as principal in a junior high
school in Richmaond, Indiana. Then he returned to Elichart High School as
principal in 19448, "Woody,”" as he was known to faculty and students
alike, was vividly remembered by those who asociated with him as a good
supporter of the faculty and one who would openly listen to students. He
was 8 respecied sducational leader, snd Mr. Rice reported that whean Dr.
Church left Elkhart in March 1848, Mr. Woodruff and two other principals
scted as unofficial superintendent untll Rice came to the job bn the fall
of 1849,

In Movember 1954, Mr. Woodruf! suffered a heart attack that in-
capacitated him for several months. During that time, Mr, Glenn Updike
functioned as Acting Principal, signing official documents with that title.
Whan Mr. Woodruff returned to work, Mr. Updike continued to carry
miost of the load until Mr. Woodruff could regain his strength. In the fall
of 1988, Mr. Woodruff returned in full vigor and worked effectively as
principal. Those who joined the faculty after his heart attack never
realized that this vital and enthusiastic man had experienced a narrow
ecaps with death. He retired as principal in 1883 and entered the real
estate business,

Superintendents

Ome may not be certain that a discussion of superintendents belongs
in & book about a high school. Yet, superintendents are so important to
the decislons that affect the life of a high school that they cannot be
ignored, and it Is for this reason that they are included. In earlier and
more informal days when schoals were much smaller, superintendents did
not have an elaborate sdministrative structure 1o manage and often could
be found in the halls of the school. In sddition, in the case of J. F. Wiley,
who became an English teacher at Elkhart High School after baeing Super-
intendent of Elkchart School City for many years, a supsrintendent could
becoma & part of the day-to-day life of the school.

D. W, Thomas was Superintendent of Elkhart Schools for twenty
years from 1886 to 1906. Source material at that time referred to him &

BO

Fig. 32 C.P. Woodruff, Principal 1944- 1963 iPucture taken 18851

Bl



Fig. 34 Floyd Longenbaugh, Principal 19691970
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TABLE 3. SUPERINTENDENTS OF ELKHART SCHOOLS Prof. D. W. Thomas, M.A. In 1882 he had joined with J, K. Wahz
[Superintendent of Elkhart schooks from 1870 to 1874) to form the
northern Indiana Teachers' Association. While superintendent in Elkhart,

Superintendent Professor Thomas became prominent nationally through his work with
Date the National Education Association.

18E8- 1870 Valois Buther J. F. Wiley becarme superintendent of Elkhart schools in the fall of

LK. Wtz 1921 and continued in that position until 1938, There was no advance
TETO- 1874 i warning of his dismissal but suddenly it was announced that he was 1o

1ET4-187E 4. M. Strasburg be replaced as superintendent and would take & position as an English

o M, A Barnett teacher at the high school where he remained until 1950. Thess were
eleven successful years of work, “Pop™ Wiley was liked by students

15791682 o because even though he was strict, he showed & genuine interest in them,

1882.1808 T. B. Swariz Teachers respected him as the former superintendent and as an effective

1888.1008 0. W. Thesmas col lsague, 'I"I'wI 1848 Pennant Annual contained the following comrment
about J. F. Wiley:

19061915 E.H. Drake o

1915-1930 4. A, Wiggens Mo teacher is more aware of this cultural heritage

I, 8. W, Kelly than Mr, Wiley. & reader of the classics, a lover af

the best literature, he gives to his classes some-

1821-1939 & iy thing more than the subject matter of the book,

1939.1948 Dr. Harald H, Church Mo student will ever forget his inspirational talis

1541067 Joi . Rica an “tha higher vabees,”

Supsrintendent-E

1966- 1967 T MacgE S Dr. Harold H. Church was superintandent from 1939 until 1949, He

1967-1872 Dr. Harold E. Oyer apparently was quite controversial, although everyone agreed that he was
an extremely able man. He was brought to town to be an innovator and
had outstanding qualifications, having received his doctor's degree in 1944,
He worked hard, visiting classes, learning the names of teachers, generating
idess and organizing committess. The mildest comment about him was
that Or, Church was “far from being & passive superintendent.” Others
Stated that he “stepped on a lot of toes™ 10 get his way on things. He was
called & “martinet™ that was “not beloved.” It was reported that when he
made up his mind about things nothing could change it. He was called
“dogmatic.” He was said to have had great ahility to persuade others but
that he wanted to move things so fast that he tried to move faster than
the community wanted. Toward the end of his tenure Elichart High School
was scheduled for an evaluation by the North Central regional sccrediting
sssoclation. Dr. Church organized committees and exacted many hours of
committes waork from teachers until resentrment grew. A special test that
Dr. Church had required teachars to sdminister in addition to their North
Cantral activities and year-end duties caused the faculty to do a poor job

AL 85

Elkhart BBy corons




IPigture takem 1947)
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of checking the test. Whan Dr. Church criticized the teachers for carcless
weork, he was rebuffed by the faculty.

Dr. Church, in spite of controversy, made many improvements in
the operation of the school system and the high school. He imitiated new
courses and improved the organizathon of subject-matter departments.
After ten years of service he accepted a position at the University of
Wisconsin in 1948,

Mr, Jo& C. Rice was superintendent of Elkhart School City from
1949 o 1967. He came from Frankfort, Indiana, where he had been
superintendent from 1946 to 1849, He recalled that there were some 200
applicants for the superintendent’s job in Elkhart and that his nama had
bean recommended by Purdug University. He did not want the job but
Elkhart seemed 1o be fascinated by someone who did not want the posi-
thon. Elkhart persisted in its invitation and Mr. Rice came. By “playing
hard-to-get” Mr. Rice was able to obiain agresment that he could make
same changes he felt were important. School board meetings had always
besn closed affairs and individuals could come only by invitation. Since
ane af the things the board wanted Mr. Rice to do was to improve public
relations, they agreed to let him open school board meetings to the press
and other citizens, and for & while, they were even aired on the radio.
The second thing that Mr, Rice wanted to change was tha hiring policies.
Elkhart had & rule that a teacher should have at lesst tavo WRATS BN pErienoe
before he was ready to join the Elkhart staff, Mr. Rice preferred that
teachers learn the Elkhart way from the start rather than importing the
ristakes of other places and was thus permitted to hire beginning teachers.
Wir. Rice also discovered that Elkhart was about four 1o five percent
Negro, but the school system had retained only thres black elementary
teachers on tenure after the previously all-black South Side school was
closed In 1948, Although these three black teachers had been sant 1o
integrated schools, Mr. Rice felt that more black teachers should be hired,
The board agreed at & time when few schools in the country would hire
black teachers to teach white children. He reported that only one parent
objected and that he had told her the only thing he could think of for her
1o do was to move out of town. Later, she reluctantly sdmitted that her
daughter liked her teacher, Mr. Rice alio eliminated the v itten policy
of not hiring Catholics and began active recruiting of staff members at
Notre Darme. Mr. Rice recalled that his first batthe was to stop the using of
junior high stedents in band and varsity athletics. The junior high concept
called for thess schooks having their own program in everything inciuding
band snd athletics. The staf resisted his change fiercely, predicting that
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both music and athletics would seriously decling at the high school. Mr.
Rice won and neither program ssems to have suffared.

Mr. Rice's lgst year a5 superintendent was an unusual one. Elkhart
Gehool City had been recrganized into the Elkhart Community Schools.
The school board had been expanded from five to seven memberd with
thres being appointed from the townships. Or Oiyer was appointed Super-
intendent-alect and became the acting superintendent in actual practice.
Mr. Rice was given the job of getting in order all the records of the school
systemn, which had undergone tremendous growth. He found his last year
of being superintendent, but not actually being superintendent, “embar
rassing,” but felt it was necessary to keep & man of Dr. Oyer's quality
from going eleswhers, and it was necessary because community fealings
called for a mew day with 8 new image. Mr. Rice retired the mext year
and reviewesd his years In the community by saying that “Elkhart is a
very challenging place to work.”

The last superintendent in the life of Elkhart High School was Dr.
Harald E. Oyer. Dr. Oyer had taught social studies in Elkhart and ws
the principal who opened North Side Junior High School, He was the
first superintendent to be promoted from inside the school system, having
served first a5 assistant superintendent before becoming swperintendent-
glect amd then superintendent in 1967, Dr. Oyer was the superintendant
te finally preside over the division of Elkhart into & two-high school com-
munlty and to ssa Elkhart High School become a name that 18 history
and mMEmories.

Fig. 38 Dr. Harold E. Oyer, Superintendent 1967-1972
a0 1
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TABLE 4, TEACHERS AND STUDENTS AT ELEHART HIGH SCHOOL:

. 1672 Date Mumber af Mumber of Number of Population
BG8- Students Teachers Graduates of Elkhart
Diarte Mumberof — Mumber of Mumber of Papulathon
18385 1,340 110-13 A0
Trudents Teachers Graduates of Elkhart 1417 P
1840 483 403 I3 454
1941 1394
18640 1,430 1947 1,343
1RES T |probably taught 1543 1207
I-Il'l'l:"l.l’T;l‘El-l 15944 1333
e 1945 1,362 54
1870 308 1946 1314 58
1 = 19478 1,188 or 1,137 [Incheding 80 Osalo and 35 Cleveland Townshigps)
18944 1,078 S
s g 1950 az3 35,356
s s - 9512 1,081
1875 o
1876 9 1860 1,564 40,274
1877 1] 1861-2 2,014
1878 4 YEE2-T 7 454
1878 12 106 T4 2,689
1880 B 696 19648 2,500
188548 2 580 11
1886 96 . " 1965.7 2,808 or 2,716
196748 2. a2
1280 A 11,360 1968.9 2 807
19659-70 3,005
1859 29 Bor a7 -y
a0 ey 15,184 19713 2 904 147 &0 43 1532
1905 288 10
TOTAL EHS GAADUATES 18731973 24,138
1910 i [1] 13 fdan.) 19,283
38 {Jurel
1912 10 [Jan.]
313 Lhena)
1914-5 441
1918 S80 i
1|\178 623
1MEe n
1820 =1H 24277
1822-3 48
1930 §E& 230 32 pan
1934 1.800
92 L
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